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DIRECTORS' REPORT 
 
The directors have pleasure in submitting their report together with the audited financial statements of the 
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2019. 
 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITY 
 
The Company is principally engaged in the underwriting of life insurance business. There has been no 
significant change in the principal activity of the Company during the financial year. 
 
 
FINANCIAL RESULTS 
  

   RM’000 
    

Net profit for the financial year   13,130 

 
 
DIVIDENDS 
 
No dividend was paid during the year and the Directors do not recommend any dividend to be paid for the 
financial year under review. 
 
 
RESERVES AND PROVISIONS 
 
Material transfers to or from reserves and provisions during the financial year are as disclosed in the financial 
statements. 
 
 
SHARE CAPITAL 
 
During the financial year, the Company increased its share capital from RM150,000,003 to RM200,000,003 via 
creation and subsequent allotment of 50,000,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each, fully paid in cash by the 
shareholder of the Company. 
 
Other than the above, there were no other changes in the issued and paid-up capital of the Company during the 
financial year. 
 
 
PROVISION OF INSURANCE LIABILITIES 
 
Before the financial statements of the Company were made out, the directors took reasonable steps to ascertain 
that there was adequate provision for its insurance liabilities in accordance with the valuation methods specified 
in Part D of the Risk-Based Capital Framework for Insurers as required by Bank Negara Malaysia (“BNM”). 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
BAD AND DOUBTFUL DEBTS 
 
Before the financial statements of the Company were made out, the directors took reasonable steps to ascertain 
that action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of allowances for doubtful 
debts, and satisfied themselves that there were no known bad debts to be written off and that adequate 
allowance for impairment losses had been made. 
 
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances that would render it necessary to 
write off any bad debts or the amount of allowance for impairment losses in the financial statements of the 
Company inadequate to any substantial extent. 
 
 
CURRENT ASSETS 
 
Before the financial statements of the Company were made out, the directors took reasonable steps to ascertain 
that any current assets, which were unlikely to realise their values as shown in the accounting records of the 
Company in the ordinary course of business, have been written down to an amount which they might be 
expected to realise. 
 
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which would render the values 
attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Company misleading. 
 
 
VALUATION METHODS 
 
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances which have arisen which render 
adherence to the existing methods of valuation of assets or liabilities of the Company misleading or 
inappropriate. 
 
 
CONTINGENT AND OTHER LIABILITIES 
 
At the date of this report, there does not exist: 
 
(a) any charge on the assets of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year which 

secures the liabilities of any other person; or 
 
(b) any contingent liability of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial year. 
 
No contingent or other liability of the Company has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable 
within the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the directors, will or 
may substantially affect the ability of the Company to meet its obligations when they fall due. 
 
For the purpose of this paragraph, contingent or other liabilities do not include liabilities arising from contracts of 
insurance underwritten in the ordinary course of business of the Company. 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES 
 
At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances not otherwise dealt with in this report 
or the financial statements of the Company which would render any amount stated in the financial statements 
misleading. 
 
 
ITEMS OF AN UNUSUAL NATURE 
 
The results of the operations of the Company during the financial year were not, in the opinion of the directors, 
substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.  
 
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any item, 
transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely, in the opinion of the directors, to affect substantially 
the results of the operations of the Company for the financial year in which this report is made. 
 
 
DIRECTORS  
 
The directors who have held office during the financial year to the date of this report are: 
 

Dato’ Md Agil bin Mohd Natt  

Lee Sang Hui  
Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar bin Zaini  
Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim  
Vijayam A/P Nadarajah (Appointed on 19 April 2019)  
Arthur Jay Belfer (Appointed on 3 February 2020)  
  
In accordance with Clause 20.6 of the Constitution of the Company, Dato’ Md Agil bin Mohd Natt shall retire at 
the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, and being eligible, offers himself for re-election. 
 
In accordance with Clause 20.8 of the Constitution of the Company, Mr. Arthur Jay Belfer shall retire at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting, and being eligible, offers himself for re-election. 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 
 
Profile of Directors 
 
The following are the profile of the directors of the Company: 
 
Dato’ Md Agil bin Mohd Natt  
Chairman/Independent Non-Executive Director  
 
Dato’ Md Agil bin Mohd Natt, aged 69, a Malaysian, was appointed to the Board on 29 June 2012. He holds a 
Bachelor of Science in Economics (Hons) degree from Brunel University, London and a Master of Science in 
Finance degree from the CASS Business School, London. He also attended the Advanced Management 
Program, Harvard Business School in the United States of America. 
 
He started his career in Corporate Finance with Bumiputra Merchant Bankers Berhad in 1977 before serving as 
Senior General Manager (Finance) at Island & Peninsular Bhd in 1982. He was also the Regional Chief 
Representative of Kleinwort Benson Ltd before joining Malayan Banking Berhad (“Maybank”). Dato’ Agil Natt 
served the Maybank Group in various capacities including as Senior General Manager, Corporate Banking, 
Chief Executive Officer of Aseambankers Malaysia Berhad (now known as Maybank Investment Bank Berhad) 
and Executive Director and Deputy President of Maybank. 
 
From 2006 until his retirement in 2011, Dato’ Agil Natt served as President and Chief Executive Officer of the 
International Centre for Education in Islamic Finance (INCEIF), The Global University of Islamic Finance, set up 
by Bank Negara Malaysia. 
 
He currently sits on the Boards of Affin Bank Berhad, Cagamas Berhad, Credit Guarantee Corporation Malaysia 
Bhd, and Sogo (KL) Department Store Sdn Bhd. He also sits on the Investment Panel of Employees Provident 
Fund. 
 
Dato’ Md Agil bin Mohd Natt is also the Chairman of the Board of Directors of Manulife Investment Management 
(M) Berhad (formerly known as Manulife Asset Management Services Berhad). 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 
 
Profile of Directors (Continued) 
 
Lee Sang Hui  
Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director  
 
Mr. Lee Sang Hui, aged 51 and a US national, holds a Masters in Business Administration from Thunderbird 
School of International Management and a Bachelor degree from the University of Colorado in Molecular 
Cellular Developmental Biology. 
 
Mr. Lee has over 28 years of experience in the Life Insurance and Asset Management industries. Prior to his 
appointment as Group Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of Manulife Holdings Berhad, Mr. Lee held various senior 
management roles in American Life Insurance in Japan before joining AIG/AIA where he had a noteworthy 
career across Investments, Finance, Marketing and Distribution. Mr. Lee is a seasoned international executive 
with a proven track record of delivering consistent, high quality results across Thailand, Korea, Hong Kong and 
Japan. 
 
Mr. Lee also sits on the Boards of Manulife Holdings Berhad and Manulife Investment Management (M) Berhad 
(formerly known as Manulife Asset Management Services Berhad). 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 
 
Profile of Directors (Continued) 
 
Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar bin Zaini  
Independent Non-Executive Director  
 
Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar bin Zaini, aged 69, a Malaysian, was appointed to the Board on 5 July 2011. 
He holds a Master of Arts in Law & Diplomacy from The Fletcher School of Laws & Diplomacy, Tufts University, 
USA and a Bachelor of Arts with honours in Economics from University Kebangsaan Malaysia.  
 
He began his career as an Administrative and Diplomatic Officer in 1977. He served the Malaysian Government 
at various ministries and departments and also the Perak State Government until he chose to take an optional 
retirement from the government service in 1999. 
 
In February 2004, HRH The Sultan of Perak consented his appointment as Member of the Council of Elders to 
HRH Sultan of Perak. He is currently a Member of the Perak Council of Islamic Religion and Malay Customs 
and Board Member to the PKEINPK Sdn Bhd. He is a member of the PERKESO Investment Panel, Chairman 
of IPOH Sentral Development Sdn Bhd, a Distinguished Fellow to Institute of Strategic and International Studies 
(ISIS) Malaysia, Fellow Institute of Public Security of Malaysia and Adjunct Professor of Northern Corridor 
Economic Region Research Centre, Universiti Utara Malaysia. 
 
He was Executive Director of Berjaya Corporation Berhad from 2001 to 2004, Chairman of Malaysian National 
News Agency (BERNAMA) from February 2004 to January 2010, Advisor and Chief Executive of Northern 
Corridor Implementation Authority from 2007 to 2009, a Board Member of the Royal Perak Medical College 
from 2005 to 2011, a Board Member of the Malaysian Airline System Berhad from 2005 to 2011, a Board 
Member of PLUS Expressway Berhad from 2007 to 2012, Tropicana Corporation Berhad from 2010 to 2016, a 
Board Member of the University of Malaya from 2014 to 2019, Chairman of University of Malaya Specialist 
Centre from 2015 to 2019, Chairman of International University of Malaya Wales from 2015 to 2019. 
 
Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar is the Chairman of the Nominating and Remuneration Committee and is a 
member of the Audit Committee and the Risk Management Committee of the Board of Directors. He is also a 
Director and member of Group Audit Committee, Group Risk Management Committee and Group 
Nominating/Remuneration Committee of the Board of Manulife Holdings Berhad and a Director of Manulife 
Investment Management (M) Berhad (formerly known as Manulife Asset Management Services Berhad). 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 
 
Profile of Directors (Continued) 
 
Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
 
Mr. Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim, aged 65, a Malaysian, was appointed to the Board on 17 July 2012. He 
graduated from the University of Leeds with a Bachelor of Arts in Economics in July 1978 and subsequently 
joined KPMG (formerly known as Peat Marwick Mitchell) in the United Kingdom in 1978. He qualified as a 
member of the Institute of Taxation, United Kingdom in 1981 and as a member of The Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in England and Wales (“ICAEW”) in 1982. He then returned to Malaysia in 1982 to continue his 
service with KPMG where he was admitted in 1984 as a member of the Malaysian Association of Certified 
Public Accountants. Mr. David Lim was admitted as a Partner of the Firm in 1990. 
 
Mr. David Lim has had an extensive career serving as an auditor in KPMG for 33 years. During his career with 
KPMG, he served in the Management Committee of the Firm from 1997 to 2001 as well as KPMG's Partnership 
Supervisory Council from 2002 to 2010. He was also the Asian Anchor Practice representative for Marketing in 
2000 to 2001 in which he gained extensive and insightful knowledge from KPMG Global counterparts 
worldwide.   
 
In 2006, he was assigned by KPMG to start up the Malaysian Audit Committee Institute (“ACI Malaysia”), which 
was a virtual worldwide initiative sponsored by KPMG to assist Independent Non-Executive Directors in 
enhancing their awareness and ability to implement effective board processes. 
 
Mr. David Lim actively served as an Examiner for Company Law examinations in the Malaysian Institute of 
Certified Public Accountants (“MICPA”) for over a period of ten (10) years. He was also the Chairman of the 
MICPA Code of Ethics Committee and a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants Code of Ethics 
Committee from 2002 to 2004. He had also developed an expertise from undertaking the role of Reporting 
Accountants in initial public offerings (“IPO”) and was the audit partner in charge of over 30 IPOs whilst at 
KPMG. He retired from KPMG in 2011.  
 
In July 2013, Mr. David Lim was appointed as a Council Member of the ICAEW representing South East Asia 
(Malaysia). His appointment represents a huge accolade for Malaysia, as it’s the first time in ICAEW’s sterling 
130 years history, a Malaysian is represented on ICAEW’s Council. In 2015, his term was renewed for a second 
term of two years. Mr David Lim appointment was extended for a third term of two years from 2017 till 2019. 
 
Mr. David Lim sits on the Board of a few public listed companies, namely Sasbadi Holdings Berhad, Kawan 
Food Berhad, Ranhill Holdings Berhad and Press Metal Aluminium Holdings Berhad as an Independent Non-
Executive Director. He also sits on the Board of Affin Investment Berhad (In Members’ Voluntary Winding-up), 
Affin Hwang Investment Bank Berhad, Rockwills Trustee Berhad, Fairview Schools Berhad and a few private 
limited companies. 
 
Mr. David Lim is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and is a member of the Risk Management Committee 
and Nominating/Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors. He is a Director and also the Chairman of 
the Group Audit Committee and is a member of the Group Risk Management Committee and Group 
Nominating/Remuneration Committee of the Board of Manulife Holdings Berhad. 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 
 
Profile of Directors (Continued) 
 
Vijayam A/P Nadarajah (Appointed on 19 April 2019) 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
 
Mrs. Vijayam A/P Nadarajah, aged 58, a Malaysian, was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director 
of the Company with effect from 19 April 2019. She holds a Master’s in Business Administration as well as a 
Bachelor’s in Economics (with a major in accounting) from Monash University in Melbourne, Australia. She has 
also acquired an L.L.B. from London University, United Kingdom. In terms of professional memberships, she is 
a Fellow Member of CPA Australia, a Chartered Accountant under the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, and a 
Fellow Member of the Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia. 
 
She was the president of Institute of Internal Auditors Malaysia (IIAM) from 1996 to 1997, and was then 
reappointed as a governor to the Board of Governors of IIAM in 2016. Mrs. Vijayam co-chaired the taskforce on 
Guidance for Effective Internal Audit Function. 
 
Mrs. Vijayam currently holds the position of Independent Non-Executive Director for BNP Paribas Malaysia 
Berhad and MPI Generali Insurans Berhad. She is a consultant and trainer in topics such as risk management, 
compliance, internal audit and board governance.  
 
Mrs. Vijayam was the Independent Non-Executive Director of The Bank of Nova Scotia Berhad, and has 
resigned effective 15 August 2019. Prior to her appointment to the board of ScotiaBank Berhad, she was a 
consultant for China Construction Bank Malaysia Berhad. Mrs. Vijayam was in charge of overseeing the 
incorporation of a public company to set up the bank in Malaysia, and application for a bank license. During this 
process, she liaised with Bank Negara Malaysia on matters related to application of license and operational 
readiness audit. Furthermore, she advised on the structure and nomination of independent directors for the 
Board, and also drafted the board charter and terms of reference of board committees, on top of other 
governance policies.  
 
From 2013 to 2016, Mrs. Vijayam served as a Specialist for the Research and Development/Corporate Program 
of the Financial Accreditation Agency (“FAA”), which is an initiative supported by Bank Negara Malaysia and the 
Securities Commission Malaysia. She also served as Financial Controller at CIMB Aviva Assurance Berhad and 
CIMB Aviva Takaful Berhad, Assistant General Manager of Finance at Oriental Capital Assurance Berhad, as 
well as senior roles in RHB Bank Berhad and Sime Bank Berhad/UMBC Bank Berhad. 
 
Mrs. Vijayam is the Chairman of the Risk Management Committee and is a member of the Audit Committee and 
Nominating/Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors. She is also a Director and Chairman of the 
Group Risk Management Committee and is a member of the Group Risk Management Committee and Group 
Nominating/Remuneration Committee of the Board of Manulife Holdings Berhad. 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 
 
Profile of Directors (Continued) 
 
Arthur Jay Belfer (Appointed on 3 February 2020) 
Independent Non-Executive Director 
 
Mr. Arthur Jay Belfer, aged 63, a US National,  is an actuary who has held senior executive positions with Asian 
branches of global insurance companies and has significant board experience. He brings life insurance 
expertise to the board.  
 
He was a founder for American International Group’s (AIG) Asia Pacific Life Operations Life Insurance Region. 
Mr. Belfer established and grew the Region for over 15 years, of which 11 years were as the Regional Senior 
Executive. He also established and led the AIG Enterprise Risk Management for 2 years in Asia, bringing it out 
of the New York Headquarters and into the businesses within the Asian Region. 
 
In terms of Board experience, Mr. Belfer was the Chief Executive Officer for Prudential Life Assurance Thailand, 
and Managing Director for Prudential Corporation Asia from 2015 to 2017. Prior to that, he served as Country 
President (CEO) & Chairman of the Board for the Ace Group’s Life Insurance Company in Thailand from 2010 
to 2013. 
 
In 1997, Mr. Belfer was the Regional Senior Actuary for John Hancock in Asia for 5 years to assist with the 
establishment of its business presence in the region.  
 
Mr. Belfer has professional qualifications as both an Actuary (FSA) and an Accountant (CPA) from the USA. He 
is also a Fellow in the Life Management Institute (FLMI). He holds a Bachelor of Business Administration 
(B.B.A.) from the University of Michigan, School of Business Administration with Honors as a University of 
Michigan Regents Alumni Scholar. 
 
Mr. Belfer is a member of the Nominating/Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 
 
Directors’ Training 
 
The Directors have participated in conferences, seminars and training programmes to keep abreast with the 
development in the business environment, financial sector issues and challenges as well as the new regulatory 
and statutory requirements. Several members of the Board have participated in the Financial Institutions 
Directors Education (“FIDE”) programme developed by Bank Negara Malaysia in collaboration with Perbadanan 
Insurans Deposit Malaysia and the International Centre for Leadership in Finance. The programme is aimed at 
promoting high impact boards in the financial institutions. 
 
The training programmes and seminars attended by the directors during the financial year ended 31 December 
2019 are, inter-alia, on areas relating to corporate governance, risk management, role of an effective Board, 
insurance, banking and finance. The conferences, seminars and training programmes attended by the directors 
during the financial year ended 31 December 2019 are as follows: 
 

• Anti-Money Laundering/Counter Financing of Terrorism – Insurance & Takaful Sector  

• MFRS 17: Understanding its impact and consequences 

• Understanding Fintech and Its Implications for Insurance Companies 

• FIDE FORUM:  Building an Effective Board - Board Selection 

• FIDE FORUM: Reading the Signs: The next financial crisis and its potential impact on Asia 

• Half day talk on Cryptocurrency & Blockchain 

• Dinner Talk- Digital Assets: Global Trends, Legal Requirements and Opportunities for Financial Institutions 

• BNM-FIDE FORUM: Dialogue with the Deputy Governor on the draft Risk Management in Technology 
(RMiT) Policy 

• Understanding the Evolving Cybersecurity Landscape 

• IIC-SIDC Governance Convention 2019: Rising Beyond Principles and Policies 

• Mandatory Accreditation Program 

• Capital Market Director Programme for Fund Management (Modules 1,2B, 3 & 4) 

• CNBC Managing Asia: Sustainable Entrepreneurship  

• The Financial Institutions Directors’ Education (FIDE) Core Programme Module A: Insurance 

• Executive Financial Planning Accelerated Program 

• The Financial Institutions Directors’ Education (FIDE) Core Programme Module B: Insurance 

• FIDE FORUM:  Building an Effective Board - Board Selection 

• The Financial Institutions Directors’ Education Programme (FIDE) Core Programme Modules A and B by 
ICLIF Leadership and Governance Center 

• Reading the Signs: The Next Financial Crisis and Potential Impact on Asia by FIDE FORUM 

• Dinner Talk – Digital Assets: Global Trends, Legal Requirements and Opportunities for Financial Institutions 
by FIDE FORUM 

• Audit Committee Conference 2019 by Malaysian Institute of Accountants 

• FIDE FORUM: Rethinking Strategy 

• 2nd PIDM-FIDE FORUM Annual Dialogue with the CEO of PIDM 

• FIDE FORUM: Artificial Intelligence and its role in Financial Institutions 

• FIDE FORUM-ISRA: Value Based Intermediation – Director’s Role 

• BNM-FIDE FORUM Dialogue: Key Aspects of Fintech and Regulation 

• FIDE FORUM: Digital To The Core 

• ICDM International Directors Summit 2019 

• Leadership in a Disruptive World by FIDE FORUM 

• Securities Commission Malaysia's Audit Oversight Board Conversation With Audit Committees 

• Raising Defences: Section 17A, MACC Act by FIDE FORUM 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
DIRECTORS (CONTINUED) 
 
Directors’ Training (Continued) 
 

The Board will continue to undergo other relevant training programmes and seminars to ensure that they remain 
well-equipped with the relevant knowledge as well as emergent strategic directions and ideas to discharge their 
duties effectively. 
 
 
DIRECTORS' BENEFITS 
 

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director of the Company has received or become entitled to 
receive any benefit (other than benefits disclosed as directors' remuneration and benefits in note 25 and note 32 
to the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related company with a director 
or with a firm of which the director is a member, or with a company in which the director has a substantial 
financial interest. 
 

During and at the end of the financial year, no arrangements subsisted to which the Company is a party, with 
the object or objects of enabling directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of 
shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body corporate, other than those arising from the 
Executive Stock Option Plan of the ultimate holding company. 
 
 
DIRECTORS' INTERESTS 
 

No directors in office at the end of the financial year held any interest in the shares in the Company or its related 
corporations. 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 

Board Meeting 
 
There were nine (9) Board Meetings held during the year. The details of attendance of the Directors are as 
follows:- 
 
 

Name of Board of Directors Designation 

Dato’ Md Agil bin Mohd Natt Chairman/Independent Non-Executive Director 

Lee Sang Hui  Chief Executive Officer/Executive Director 

Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar bin Zaini Independent Non-Executive Director 

Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim Independent Non-Executive Director 
Vijayam A/P Nadarajah (appointed on 19 April 2019) Independent Non-Executive Director 

Arthur Jay Belfer (appointed on 3 February 2020) Independent Non-Executive Director 

 

Name of Board of Directors Attendance 

Dato’ Md Agil bin Mohd Natt 9 out of 9 meetings 

Lee Sang Hui 9 out of 9 meetings 

Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar bin Zaini 8 out of 9 meetings 

Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim 8 out of 9 meetings 

Vijayam A/P Nadarajah (appointed on 19 April 2019) 6 out of 6 meetings 

Arthur Jay Belfer (appointed on 3 February 2020) 0 out of 0 meetings 
 
Board responsibility and oversight 
 

The Board of Directors (“the Board”) has generally complied with BNM's Minimum Standards for Corporate 
Governance (BNM/RH/PD/029-9). As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five (5) independent non-
executive directors and one (1) executive director to enable a balanced and objective consideration of issues, 
hence facilitating optimal decision-making. 
 

The Board has overall responsibility for putting in place a framework of good corporate governance within the 
Company, including the processes for financial reporting, risk management and compliance. Board members 
bring their independent judgement, diverse knowledge and experience in deliberations on issues pertaining to 
strategy, performance, resources and business conduct. The overall principal responsibilities of the Board are 
as follows:- 
 

1. Providing clear objectives and policies within which the Senior Management of the Company is to operate. 
 

2. Ensuring that there are adequate controls and systems in place to facilitate the implementation of the 
Company’s policies. 
 

3. Monitoring Management’s success in implementing the approved strategies, plans and budget within the 
approved risk appetites. 
 

4. Understanding the principal risks of all aspects of the businesses in which the Company is engaged in, 
setting of risk appetites, and ensuring that systems are in place to effectively monitor and manage these 
risks with a view to the long-term viability and success of the Company. 
 

5. Monitoring and assessing development which may affect the Company’s strategic plans. 
 

6. Reviewing the adequacy and the integrity of the Company’s internal control systems and management 
information systems, including systems for compliance with applicable laws, regulations, rules, directives and 
guidelines. 
 

7. Avoiding conflicts of interest and ensuring appropriate disclosure of possible conflicts of interest. 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED) 
 

Board responsibility and oversight (Continued) 
 

The Board has overall responsibility for putting in place a framework of good corporate governance within the 
Company, including the processes for financial reporting, risk management and compliance. Board members 
bring their independent judgement, diverse knowledge and experience in deliberations on issues pertaining to 
strategy, performance, resources and business conduct. The overall principal responsibilities of the Board are 
as follows:- (continued) 
 

8. Upholding and observing banking and relevant laws, rules and regulations. 
 

9. The Board has adopted a schedule of matters specifically reserved for its approval which include, among 
others, reviewing and approving the following:- 

 

(i) Strategic/business plans and annual budget. 
(ii) New investments, divestments, mergers and acquisitions, corporate restructuring, including the 

establishment of subsidiaries, joint ventures or strategic alliances both locally and abroad. 
(iii) Acquisition and disposal of significant assets of the Company. 
(iv) Annual and interim financial statements before publishing to the Company’s website and submission to 

BNM. 
(v) Appointment of new Directors, CEO and other senior management positions based on recommendations 

of the Nominating/Remuneration Committee. 
(vi) Related party transactions and capital financing. 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Board Committees 
 
Nominating/Remuneration Committee 
 
The members of the Nominating/Remuneration Committee as at 31 December 2019 are as follows: 
 

Name Designation 

Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar bin Zaini  Chairman/Independent Non-Executive Director 

Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim Member/Independent Non-Executive Director 

Vijayam A/P Nadarajah (appointed as member w.e.f. 
19 April 2019) Member/Independent Non-Executive Director 

Dato’ Md Agil bin Mohd Natt (resigned as member 
w.e.f. 19 April 2019) Member/Independent Non-Executive Director 

 
A total of seven (7) Nominating/Remuneration Committee Meetings were held on 16 January 2019, 15 February 
2019, 27 February 2019, 29 April 2019, 8 July 2019, 21 August 2019 and 25 November 2019, for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2019. The attendance of the Nominating/Remuneration Committee members are as 
follows:- 
 

Name of Members Attendance 
Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar bin Zaini 5 out of 7 meetings 

Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim 7 out of 7 meetings 

Vijayam A/P Nadarajah (appointed as member w.e.f. 
19 April 2019) 4 out of 4 meetings 

Dato’ Md Agil bin Mohd Natt (resigned as member 
w.e.f. 19 April 2019) 3 out of 3 meetings 

 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019, the Nominating/Remuneration Committee has undertaken the 
following activities: 
 
(i) Reviewed the contribution and performance of each individual director, the Board as a whole and Board 

Committees; 
(ii) Reviewed and recommended the re-election of directors to the Board for recommendation to the 

shareholders for approval; 
(iii) Reviewed the Board nomination process; 
(iv) Reviewed the succession plan for senior management; and 
(v) Reviewed the training programmes to be attended by the Board.  
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Board Committees (Continued) 
 
Risk Management Committee 
 
The members of the Risk Management Committee as at 31 December 2019 are as follows:- 
 
Name Designation 

Vijayam A/P Nadarajah (appointed as member w.e.f. 19 
April 2019, redesignated as Chairman w.e.f. 25 
November 2019) Chairman/Independent Non-Executive Director 

Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim (redesignated as member 
w.e.f. 25 November 2019) Member/Independent Non-Executive Director 

Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar bin Zaini Member/Independent Non-Executive Director 

Dato’ Md Agil bin Mohd Natt (resigned as member w.e.f. 19 
April 2019) Member/Independent Non-Executive Director 

 
A total of four (4) Risk Management Committee Meetings were held on 20 February 2019, 23 May 2019, 16 
August 2019 and 14 November 2019, for the financial year ended 31 December 2019. The attendance of the 
Risk Management Committee members are set out as follows:- 
 
Name of Members Attendance 

Vijayam A/P Nadarajah (appointed as member w.e.f. 19 
April 2019, redesignated as Chairman w.e.f. 25 
November 2019) 3 out of 3 meetings 

Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim (redesignated as member 
w.e.f. 25 November 2019) 4 out of 4 meetings 

Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar bin Zaini 4 out of 4 meetings 

Dato’ Md Agil bin Mohd Natt (resigned as member w.e.f. 19 
April 2019) 1 out of 1 meeting 

 
The Risk Management Committee is responsible for: 
 
1. Reviewing and recommending risk management strategies, policies and risk tolerance for the Board’s 

approval; 
2. Reviewing and assessing the adequacy of risk management policies and framework for identifying, 

measuring, monitoring and controlling risks as well as the extent to which these are operating effectively; 
3. Ensuring adequate infrastructure, resources and systems are in place for an effective risk management, i.e. 

ensuring that staff are responsible for implementing risk management systems and perform these duties 
independently of the Company’s risk taking activities; and 

4. Reviewing management’s periodic reports on risk exposure, risk portfolio composition and risk management 
activities. 

 
Through the Risk Management Committee, the Board oversees the Enterprise Risk Management Framework of 
the Company. The Risk Management Committee advises the Audit Committee and the Board on areas of high 
risks faced by the Company and the adequacy of compliance and control throughout the organisation. The Risk 
Management Committee reviews the risk management policies formulated by management and makes relevant 
recommendations to the Board for approval. 



Company No. 

200801013654 (814942-M) 

 
MANULIFE INSURANCE BERHAD  
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

 
 

16 
 

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Board Committees (Continued) 
 
Audit Committee  
 
The members of the Audit Committee of the Company as at 31 December 2019 are as follows:- 
 
Name Designation 

Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim Chairman/Independent Non-Executive Director 

Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar bin Zaini Member/Independent Non-Executive Director 

Vijayam A/P Nadarajah (appointed as member w.e.f. 
19 April 2019) Member/Independent Non-Executive Director 

Dato’ Md Agil bin Mohd Natt (resigned as member w.e.f. 
19 April 2019) Member/Independent Non-Executive Director 

 
A total of five (5) Audit Committee Meetings were held on 20 February 2019, 18 March 2019, 23 May 2019, 16 
August 2019 and 14 November 2019, for the financial year ended 31 December 2019. The attendance of the 
Audit Committee members are set out as follows:-  
 

Name of Members Attendance 

Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim 5 out of 5 meetings 

Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar bin Zaini 5 out of 5 meetings 

Vijayam A/P Nadarajah (appointed as member w.e.f. 
19 April 2019) 3 out of 3 meetings 

Dato’ Md Agil bin Mohd Natt (resigned as member w.e.f. 
19 April 2019) 2 out of 2 meetings 

 
The main duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to review audit issues concerning internal 
control and risk management identified by the internal auditors, external auditors and regulatory examiners. The 
Audit Committee annually reviews and approves the audit plan and budget to ensure that the Internal Audit 
function operates effectively. The Audit Committee reviews and verifies the related party transactions and 
conflicts of interest entered into by the Company and recommends the same to the Board for approval and 
consideration. 
 
 



Company No. 

200801013654 (814942-M) 

 
MANULIFE INSURANCE BERHAD  
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

 
 

17 
 

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Key Internal Control and Risk Management Process 
 
Enterprise Risk Management Framework 
 
The Company has a strong risk management culture which supports its risk management practices. Overall, the 
Company’s Board of Directors is accountable for the oversight of risk management, and delegates this through 
a governance framework which is centered on the 3 lines of defence model and that includes risk oversight 
committees, risk managers and risk policies and practices. 
 
The Board provides stewardship and Management oversight to ensure that the Management is qualified and 
competent. Organisational and procedural controls, and policies and procedures for major activities are 
reviewed, approved and monitored on a periodic basis. 
 
Senior management directs and oversees the effective management of the Company’s institutional operations, 
which includes developing business objectives, strategies, plans, organisational structure and controls and 
policies for the Board’s review and approval. Senior Management executes and monitors the achievement of 
the Board approved business objectives, strategies, and plans, the effectiveness of the organisational structure 
and controls and corporate governance practices, culture and ethics. 
 
The Risk Management Committee (“RMC”) meets at least quarterly to review both the key risks identified by 
Management and plans for the mitigation of these risks. The key risk areas examined are strategic risk, 
insurance risk, market and liquidity risk, credit risk and operational risk. A formalised risk assessment is 
conducted quarterly by the respective risk managers, comprising the heads of business units. For the key risks 
identified, Management action plans are formulated and implemented. The results of the risk assessments are 
reviewed by the Enterprise Risk Management Committee (“ERM”) before they are reported to the Board via the 
RMC, to ensure that the risk management monitoring is independent. 
 
There is a clearly defined assignment of responsibilities to the Committees of the Board and to Management to 
provide oversight and governance over the Company’s activities. The Board, through its Audit Committee (“AC”) 
and RMC, is responsible for overseeing the Company’s management of its principal risks. The Company Chief 
Executive officer (“CEO’) is directly accountable to the Board for all of the Company’s risk taking activities and 
risk management practices. The Board and RMC delegate accountability for risk taking and risk management to 
the Company CEO. The Company CEO, supported by the Chief Risk Officer (CRO) and ERM establish risk 
policies, guide risk-taking activity, monitor material risk exposures, and develop strategic risk management 
priorities, thereby continuously shaping and promoting our risk culture throughout the Company. The ERM 
consists of the Company CEO, Company Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), CRO,  Chief Compliance Officer, 
Information Risk Officer, Appointed Actuary (“AA”) and Chief Human Resources Officer. 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Key Internal Control and Risk Management Process (Continued) 

 
Internal Audit Services Function 

 
The Charter for Audit Services – Malaysia (“AS-Malaysia”) is reviewed and approved by the AC annually. 
 
The scope of Audit Services Asia - Malaysia’ work encompasses, but is not limited to, objective examinations of 
evidence for the purpose of providing independent assessments to the Audit Committee and Senior 
Management on the adequacy and effectiveness of Manulife’s governance, risk management and internal 
control processes. Internal audit assessments include evaluating: 
 
•  The comprehensiveness, reliability, and integrity of financial and operating information, and the means used 

to identify, measure, analyse, classify, and report such information; 
•   The comprehensiveness and appropriateness of policies and procedures; 
•  The processes that ensure compliance with policies, procedures, laws, and regulations that could have a 

significant impact on operations, management or financial reporting; 
•  The means of safeguarding assets against accident, theft, malicious damage or other improper or illegal 

activities; 
• The appropriateness and comprehensiveness of operating standards, the extent to which they are 

communicated and understood, and whether deviations from standards are identified, analysed and 
communicated; and corrective action taken; and 

•   Consultation and other services related to audit expertise as needs arise. 
 
The annual audit plan is primarily driven by an independent assessment of inherent risk of the common units 
across the company and includes consideration of external information published by industry groups, and input 
from management, Committee members, regulators and other stakeholders. The objective of the inherent risk 
assessment exercise is to focus annual activity on the most important risks faced by Manulife while providing 
appropriate audit coverage over other areas over time. The progress of the internal audit plan, a summary of 
internal audit issues and the status of corrective actions performed to address the internal audit issues are 
reported to the AC when it meets. 
 
The AC reviews audit issues concerning governance, internal controls and risk management as identified by 
AS-Malaysia, external auditors and regulatory examiners. The AC annually reviews and approves the internal 
audit plan and budget to ensure the AS-Malaysia’s function operates effectively. The AC meets at least 
quarterly to review the internal audit reports tabled by AS-Malaysia. Also, the AC has active oversight on AS-
Malaysia’s independence and objectivity in relation to their scope of work. 
 
Other Key Internal Controls 
 
There is a detailed and formalised annual business and budget planning process to ensure that the Group’s 
business objectives are clearly defined. The Board reviews and approves the Group’s business plans. 
Comprehensive management reports are submitted to the Board as and when it meets throughout the year. 
The Board monitors the Group’s performance closely and Management promptly follows up on any variances 
identified. 
 
An annual review of the current and future financial position of the Group’s insurance business is performed by 
the AA, as guided by Policy document issued by Bank Negara Malaysia’s (BNM/RH/GL/003-17) Financial 
Condition Report and (BNM/RH/GL/032-12) Risk Based Capital Framework for Insurers. These include annual 
assessment on various aspects of the Company’s financial condition, quarterly Capital Adequacy Ratio 
reporting, annual multi-period stress testing and assessing the Group’s insurance business’ ability to withstand 
various adverse scenarios as part of the capital assessment procedures. Generally the appointment and duties 
of the AA is in accordance with BNM/RH/STD 029-5 - Appointed Actuary: “Appointment and Duties”. 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Key Internal Control and Risk Management Process (Continued) 
 
Other Key Internal Controls (Continued) 
 
The risk and compliance culture of the Company is driven by a strong tone from the top, complemented by the 
tone from the middle, to embed the expected values and principles of conduct that shape the behaviour and 
attitude of staff across the Company. Policies and internal standard operating procedures are clearly defined, 
consistently communicated and continuously reinforced, to embed a culture that cultivates active identification, 
assessment and mitigation of risk as part of the responsibility of all staff across the Group.  As part of the risk 
and compliance culture, the Company has instilled a compliance culture where the Board, senior management 
and every employee of the Company is committed to adhere to the requirement of relevant laws, rules, 
regulations and regulatory guidelines.  
 
The Board recognises that compliance function forms an integral part of the Company’s risk management and 
internal controls. The compliance function is to identify, assess, monitor the compliance risk of the entity and 
educate the business and support units to act in accordance with laws and regulations. In ensuring good 
governance, the Chief Compliance Officer has direct access to the Board with clear reporting lines to the extent 
permitted by the regulation. 
 
As it is vital to have a robust and effective compliance framework in place, the Company has in place a 
Compliance Policy that is driven by the Compliance Department in managing compliance risk within the 
business. The Policy requires all entities within the group to adopt and implement the compliance policies and 
procedures which are reviewed on a periodic basis or as and when required to reflect current practices and the 
applicable regulatory requirements.  
 
Using the Three Lines of Defence Model, all business and support unit are required to review and assess its 
established controls to ensure compliance to applicable laws and regulations. The compliance unit, as part of 
the second line of defence, will carry out scheduled compliance reviews on business and support units to 
assess the overall effectiveness of a business's compliance practices and protocols. The Board is provided with 
compliance reports on a regular basis to facilitate a holistic and overall view of all compliance matters across 
the company. 
 
There are internal policies and procedures within the Company for recruitment, termination, rewards and 
benefits, and promotion of staff including continuous training programmes and two (2) reviews conducted at 
mid-year and year end. In addition, other relevant procedures are in place to ensure that staff are competent, 
adequately trained in carrying out their roles and responsibilities and focused on achieving the desired results 
and business objectives. Talent Management review is conducted on an annual basis through a robust process 
via a Talent Review committee comprises the CEO and Executive Management team. Succession planning is 
reviewed on an annual basis leveraging on outcomes of the annual talent review. Successors to key roles are 
identified in consultation with Senior Management team. Identified high potentials are reflected in the 
succession plans depending on the role, growth opportunity, personal aspirations and mobility. Several other 
key initiatives in helping the Company in building high performing team include series of employee engagement 
and employee retention initiatives and continuous education of effective execution of performance 
management. 
 
A comprehensive business continuity management programme is established and updated continuously to 
reflect changes in the operating environment to provide enterprise-wide planning and arrangements of key 
resources and procedures that enable the Company to respond to and continue to operate mission-critical 
business functions, while considering all functions across a broad spectrum of interruptions to the business 
arising from internal and external events. Various business continuity tests are performed on an annual basis 
and covering alternate site tests, table top exercises, call tree tests, integrated simulation disaster recovery 
tests, etc. Results of the tests performed are presented to the Board via the Group CEO reports for their review 
as part of its oversight role. 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Key Internal Control and Risk Management Process (Continued) 
 
Other Key Internal Controls (Continued) 

 
The Information Risk Management function has in place, an existing risk assessment process that covers cyber 
security risk. The assessment is guided by policies and standards in place, in areas such as network security, 
encryption standards (for data at rest and in transit), operational security, application security, vulnerability 
management and logical access control. 
 
There are clearly documented authority limits, policies and procedures that underpin the internal control 
process, e.g. staff integrity, staff competency, checks and balances, segregation of duties, independent checks 
and verification processes, system access controls and layers of internal transaction authorisation, which are 
set out in the policies and procedural manuals, guidelines, and directives issued by the Company and updated 
from time to time. 
 
Risk Policies in Place 
 
The Company’s Enterprise Risk Policy sets out the overall ERM framework by defining policies and standards 
of practice related to risk governance, risk identification, risk measurement, risk monitoring, risk control and 
mitigation. There are various key risk policies in place to guide specific risk taking and Management activities. 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Senior Management and Material Risk Takers 
 
The Company’s Senior Management that has company-wide management responsibilities as at the date of this 
report comprised of the following personnel:- 
 

1) Chief Executive Officer 
2) Chief Financial Officer 
3) Chief Agency Officer 
4) Head of Partnership Distribution/Chief Partnership Officer 
5) Appointed Actuary* 
6) Chief Actuary (appointed on 20 January 2020) 
7) Chief Risk Officer* 
8) Chief Compliance Officer* 

* Personnel having control function 

The Company’s Senior Management is also deemed to be Material Risk Takers, who can materially commit or 
control significant amount of the Company’s resources or whose actions are likely to have a significant impact 
on the Company’s risk profile. 

Total compensation awarded to the Senior Management (excluding control function) for the financial year is as 
below:- 
 

Total compensation  
(RM’000)  

Non-Deferred Deferred 

Awarded 
during the 

year 

Granted 
during 

the year 

Paid 
during the 

year 

Implicit 
change in 

value* 

Cumulative 
outstanding as at 

31 December 2019 

Fixed remuneration      

• Cash-based 3,686 - - - - 

• Shares and share-
linked instruments - 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

• Other 943 - - - - 

Variable remuneration      

• Cash-based 552 - - - - 

• Shares and share-
linked instruments - 

 
812 

 
221 

 
301 

 
1,237 

• Other 1,007 - - - - 
      

 6,188 812 221 301 1,237 

* Implicit change in value represents the change in value of deferred compensation arising from change in 
share price and performance vesting conditions 

All of the Senior Management and Material Risk Takers received variable remuneration for the financial year. 
There were no guaranteed bonuses, sign-on awards or severance payments paid to this group during the 
financial year.  
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Senior Management and Material Risk Takers (Continued) 
 
Remuneration policy 
 
(a)  Compensation philosophy 
 

The Group Nominating/Remuneration Committee of the immediate holding company, Manulife Holdings 
Berhad, has reviewed and adopted the Manulife Global Compensation Policy (“MFC Global policy”) with 
certain amendments to suit Manulife Holdings Berhad and its subsidiaries, and to align with the Corporate 
Governance standards of Bursa Malaysia and Bank Negara Malaysia. The Company has adopted the same 
policy as the Group. 
 
Pay for performance is at the core of the Company’s compensation approach. Compensation is tied to the 
achievement of our short, medium and long-term goals, so that a significant portion of what our executives 
earn is variable and not guaranteed. 
 
There are five principles guiding every compensation decision:- 
 
(i) Compensation aligned with business strategy 

• Incentive compensation is tied to the achievement of key performance measures, prudently balancing 
time horizons and performance perspectives. 

• Performance measures are tied directly to our business strategy and shareholder value. 

• Performance share units vest and pay out based on relative and absolute Total Shareholders’ Return 
(“TSR”). 

 
(ii) Compensation aligned with long-term shareholder value 

• A significant part of our Senior Management’s (excluding control function) compensation is directly 
affected by our share price. 

• The annual incentive plan incorporates measures tied to our future success. 

• Share ownership guidelines, clawback provisions and stock option exercise restrictions discourage the 
share recipients from taking undue risk. 

 
(iii) Compensation and performance benchmarked against peer companies 

• Executive pay is benchmarked against companies with which we compete for business, capital and 
talent. 

 
(iv) Compensation aligned with good governance practices 

• Our remuneration policy is aligned with the Financial Stability Board’s Principles for Sound 
Compensation Practices and the Corporate Governance standards of Bursa Malaysia and Bank Negara 
Malaysia. 

• Employees must annually certify compliance with the Company’s Code of Business Conduct and 
Ethics.  

 
(v) Compensation aligned with risk management objectives 

• Incentive compensation for the heads of control functions of our business is based on measures that 
are not directly linked to the business they oversee. 

• The Company carries out stress tests on compensation plan designs. 

• Senior Management compensation may be clawed back for wrongdoing, even when a financial 
restatement is not required. 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Senior Management and Material Risk Takers (Continued) 
 
Remuneration policy (Continued) 
 
(b)  Managing compensation risk  
 

Compensation is aligned with the Company’s risk appetite and risk management objectives, and discourages 
inappropriate risk taking.  
 
The Company uses a compensation risk framework to structure how the Company manages the risks 
associated with the compensation program and the design features that mitigate these risks. The framework 
includes four categories, which shape the development of our compensation program. The Company 
assesses the compensation program against the framework every year. 

 
(i) Business Risk 
 

Business risk has two aspects: 

• the risk that the compensation program encourages behaviour that is not in line with the Company’s 
business strategy, risk appetite statement and goal of generating long-term shareholder value; and 

• the risk that the compensation program discourages the taking of healthy risks. 
 

The Company seeks to manage both aspects of business risk by including performance measures in the 
incentive plans that align compensation with the Company’s business strategy and reflect the impact 
employees have on performance. 

 
(ii) Talent Risk 
 

Talent risk is the risk that the compensation program will not attract and retain talented employees. 
 
The Company seeks to manage this risk by designing compensation program to be competitive and 
appealing to the talent. 

 
(iii) Performance Risk 
 

Performance risk is the risk that the compensation program will not motivate employees to maintain high 
performance standards. 
 
The Company seeks to manage this risk by including appropriate links between pay and performance and 
designing compensation to optimize business results. 

 
(iv) Compliance and Ethical Risk 
 

Compliance and ethical risk is the risk that the compensation program will encourage employees to 
engage in questionable, unethical or illegal behaviour. 
 
The Company seeks to manage this risk through strong oversight and control mechanisms, and by 
structuring the compensation program in a way that minimizes the potential incentive to breach compliance 
and ethical guidelines. 
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Senior Management and Material Risk Takers (Continued) 

 
Remuneration policy (Continued) 
 
(c)  Mitigating compensation risk  
 

The Company seeks to manage potential risk through the risk management policies, design of the 
compensation program and proper oversight of the incentive plans, and integrating the consideration of the 
Company’s risk appetite into the incentive plans and performance assessments.  
 
Risk management policies 
 
• Clawbacks – if a Corporate Vice president or above commits fraud, theft, embezzlement or serious 

misconduct, whether or not there is a financial restatement, Manulife’s board can, at its discretion, cancel 
some or all of his or her vested or unvested incentive awards, and require repayment of incentive awards 
that have already been paid. 

• Share ownership requirements – all executives are required to meet share ownership requirements. 
• No hedging – executives and directors are not allowed to use strategies (for example, short selling, or 

buying or selling a call or put option or other derivatives) to hedge or offset a change in price of Manulife 
Financial Corporation’s shares. This policy is incorporated into our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. 
All employees and directors are required to certify compliance with the code every year. 

 
Program design 
 

• Compensation award horizons are appropriately balanced between short, medium and long term. 

• Incentive plans include several performance measures, combining various performance scenarios. 

• Specific risk control and capital adequacy measures are embedded in the performance share unit awards. 

• Incentive plan awards depend on both company performance and total shareholder return (TSR), which 
links our strategy and risk appetite with improving shareholder outcomes and capital strength. 

• Compensation for control functions is not linked to business performance, to promote unbiased oversight 
and advice to Manulife’s senior management and Board of Directors.  

• Annual incentives for divisional control function heads providing oversight are not directly linked to the 
performance of businesses they oversee. 

 
Incentive plan oversight 
 

• Manulife’s management resources and compensation committee oversees all incentive plans, including 
payout distribution, control and monitoring processes and the potential impact they may have on business 
risk. 

• The Nominating/Remuneration Committee of the Company reviews and approves the compensation 
decisions for Senior Management and Material Risk Taker. 

 
Risk perspective in performance assessment 
 

• Individual risk management objectives are included in annual goals for all senior leaders. 

• The Company assesses employees against risk management criteria to make sure that the employees are 
mindful of the risks inherent in their jobs and are working within the boundaries of the Company’s policies 
and practices, while still providing appropriate incentives for material risk takers to achieve the Company’s 
objectives.  

• Performance assessments are expected to reflect how the employee contributed to managing the 
Company’s risk profile within the Company’s risk appetite and also take into account any signals from 
Internal Audit, Compliance or Risk Management highlighting inappropriate actions. 



Company No. 

200801013654 (814942-M) 

 
MANULIFE INSURANCE BERHAD  
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 

 
 

25 
 

DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Senior Management and Material Risk Takers (Continued) 
 
Remuneration policy (Continued) 
 
(d)  Compensation program 
 

The Senior Management compensation program has six key components:- 
 

Key components Description of compensation  Details of remuneration 

Base Salary 
 

Fixed compensation based on 
role, performance, qualifications 
and experience. 
 

Each executive’s salary depends on: 

• qualifications, experience and role 

• performance in the role 

• past promotions and career progression 

• salaries paid for comparable roles at 
peer companies 

• salaries of comparable roles within 
Manulife 

 
The Company benchmark salaries and 
salary ranges at least once a year against 
comparable roles in peer companies and 
other executives within the Manulife 
Group. 
 

Annual incentive 
• annual cash-

based incentive 
 
Awarded in 
February of the 
following year for 
the preceding 
year’s 
performance  

 

Variable compensation designed 
to reward executives for meeting 
the Company’s objectives and 
individual performance goals 
over a calendar year where 
performance is assessed based 
on “what” was achieved 
(contribution) and “how” they 
were achieved (exhibiting the 
Company’s cultural behaviours). 
 
Ties compensation to short-term 
priorities that will result in 
sustainable performance over 
time. 
 
 

We set a target award for each executive 
(a percentage of base salary) based on 
competitive market data and the 
executive’s level. 
 
The amount we actually pay depends on a 
combination of company and individual 
performance. 
 
Company performance objectives are tied 
to the achievement of performance targets 
that position the company for future 
success. 
 
Individual performance objectives are 
aligned with our company strategy and fall 
into three categories: 

• business objectives 

• leadership objectives 

• risk management objectives 
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Senior Management and Material Risk Takers (Continued) 

 
Remuneration policy (Continued) 

 
(d)  Compensation program (Continued) 
 

The Senior Mangement compensation program has six key components:- (continued) 
 

Key components Description of compensation  Details of remuneration 

Medium and long-
term incentives 
(Equity-based 
incentives) 
•  restricted share 

units  
•  performance 

share units  
•  stock options 

 

Awarded at the 
beginning of each 
year to executives.  

 

Senior leaders at 
the Corporate Vice 
President level and 
below receive 
100% of their award 
in restricted share 
units. 
 

 

Variable compensation 
designed to reward executives 
for meeting company objectives 
and individual performance 
goals over a multi-year period. 
 
Ties compensation to company 
and share price performance 
over both the medium and long 
term. 
 
Strengthens retention and 
reinforces alignment with 
shareholder value, especially 
for more senior executives. 

The Company sets awards for each executive 
based on level, contribution, potential and market 
competitiveness, and benchmark the award 
levels every year against comparable roles in 
peer companies.  
 
The amount each executive ultimately receives 
depends on Manulife Group’s performance: 

• the value of restricted share units depends on 
the price of Manulife Financial Corporation 
(“MFC”)’s common shares at the time of 
vesting.  

• the value of performance share units depends 
on the price of MFC’s common shares at the 
time of vesting, as well as how we perform 
against internal and relative performance 
measures that are aligned with our company 
strategy. 

• the value of stock options depends on the price 
of MFC’s common shares at the time of grant 
and when stock options are exercised. 

 
The Company do not consider the outstanding 
value of restricted share units, performance 
share units and stock options an executive 
already holds when granting awards. 
 

Pension 
 
 

Assists our employees as they 
save for their retirement 
 

The Company offers supplemental defined 
contribution plan in addition to statutory 
Employees Provident Fund (“EPF”). 

Benefits and 
wellness 

 

Protects and invests in the well-
being of our employees  
 

The Company offers group term life, disability, 
health insurance, dental, optical and wellness 
and other programmes. 

Perquisites 
 

Offers market-competitive 
benefits 
 

The Company offers perquisites depending on 
industry/market practice.  
 

 
The mix of components that make up total target direct compensation for the executives in Senior 
Management vary by level. The proportion of variable pay increases by level, making the link between pay 
and performance more pronounced for senior executives, because of the greater influence they have on our 
results. The combination of different incentive plans ensures that executives consider both the short-term 
and the long-term impact of their decisions. 
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED) 
 
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED) 
 
Senior Management and Material Risk Takers (Continued) 

 
Remuneration policy (Continued) 

 
(d)  Compensation program (Continued) 

 
This combination of components and time horizons helps to drive performance, align executive interests 
with those of shareholders, provide for competitive pay opportunities and encourage retention. Company 
performance score is used to adjust variable compensation funding available to be awarded. The exact 
amount granted is determined through an assessment of individual performance against goals that are tied 
to the financial and operating results of the Company, including impact on risk culture. 

 
Management accountability 
 
The Company has an organisational structure that clearly establishes the job descriptions, authority limits and 
other operating boundaries of each management and executive employee and formal performance appraisal is 
done annually. Information is effectively communicated to the relevant employee within the Company. The 
Company has a formal and transparent procedure for developing policies on executive remuneration. None of 
the directors and senior management of the Company has, in any circumstances, conflict of interest referred to 
in the Financial Services Act, 2013. 
 
The management meets all prescriptive requirements under this section, and has already adopted best 
practices in the areas of organisational structure and allocation of responsibilities, conflicts of interest, goal 
setting and the areas of communication. 
 
Corporate independence 
 
The Company has complied with the requirements of BNM's Guidelines on Related Party Transactions 
(BNM/RH/GL/018-6) in respect of all its related party undertakings. Necessary disclosures have been made to 
the Board and where required, the prior approval of the Board has also been obtained. 
 
Public accountability 
 
As a custodian of public funds, the Company’s dealings with the public are always conducted fairly, honestly 
and professionally. 
 
Financial reporting 
 
The Company has maintained proper accounting records and the Company's financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRS”), International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) and comply with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia. 
 
INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE 
 
During the financial year, the indemnity given or insurance effected for any Directors and officers of the 
Company amounts to RM20,000,000 in aggregate with total annual premium of RM17,920.  
 
There were no indemnity given to, or insurance effected for auditors of the Company during the financial year. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2019 
 
 
  2019  2018 
 Note RM’000  RM’000 
     
ASSETS     
     
Property and equipment 4 16,642  17,113 
Investment property 5 51,290  51,105 
Intangible assets 6 43,539  19,823 
Loans and receivables 7 230,157  272,020 
Available-for-sale financial assets 8(a) 3,347,853  3,060,316 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 8(b) 1,699,309  1,555,566 
Reinsurance assets 9 3,403  9,508 
Insurance receivables 10 25,794  24,344 
Right-of-use assets 18 1,859  - 
Current tax asset  8,226  5,258 
Cash and cash equivalents  61,927  54,237 

TOTAL ASSETS  5,489,999  5,069,290 

     
EQUITY, POLICYHOLDERS’ FUNDS     
   AND LIABILITIES     
     
Share capital 11 200,000  150,000 
Retained earnings 12 327,856  314,737 
Fair value reserve 12 12,763  6,183 

TOTAL EQUITY  540,619  470,920 

     
Insurance contract liabilities 13 4,125,326  3,864,705 
Insurance claims liabilities 14 53,464  55,014 
Financial liability at fair value through profit or loss 15 -  116 
Deferred tax liabilities 16 34,615  16,879 
Reinsurance liabilities 9 5,412  - 
Insurance payables 17 601,023  557,957 
Lease liabilities 18 1,999  - 
Other payables 19 127,541  103,699 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  4,949,380  4,598,370 

     
TOTAL EQUITY, POLICYHOLDERS’ FUNDS     
   AND LIABILITIES  5,489,999  5,069,290 

     
     
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
 
 
      
   2019  2018 
 Note  RM’000  RM’000 
      
Premium income      
  Gross premiums   893,528  902,443 
  Premiums ceded to reinsurers   (69,173)  (47,927) 

Net premiums 20  824,355  854,516 
Investment income 21  191,656  186,141 
Net realised gains 22  42,591  36,305 
Net fair value gain/(loss) 23  80,692  (211,416) 
Fee income 24  3,789  4,412 
Other operating income   2,946  2,381 

Total revenue   1,146,029  872,339 

      
Gross benefits and claims paid and payable   (735,316)  (671,041) 
Claims ceded to reinsurers   23,766  13,790 
Gross change in insurance contract liabilities   (170,786)  5,560 
Change in insurance contract liabilities ceded      
  to reinsurers   (7,702)  1,018 

Net claims   (890,038)  (650,673) 

      
Fee and commission expenses   (49,739)  (58,825) 
Investment expenses   (10,353)  (9,483) 
Management expenses 25  (143,376)  (116,645) 
Other operating (expenses)/income 27  (30,205)  2,231 

Other expenses   (233,673)  (182,722) 

      
Profit before taxation   22,318  38,944 
Taxation 28  (9,188)  (10,547) 

Net profit for the financial year   13,130  28,397 

      
Net profit attributable to:      
Equity holder of the Company   13,130  28,397 

      
Basic and diluted earnings per share (sen) 29  3.75  9.47 

      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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STATEMENT OF TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 

 
 
      
   2019  2018 
 Note  RM’000  RM’000 
      
Net profit for the financial year   13,130  28,397 
      
Other comprehensive income/(loss), net of tax:      

      
Other comprehensive income/(loss) to be reclassified to 
  profit or loss in subsequent periods:-      
      

Fair value change of available-for-sale financial assets:      

- Gross fair value change 8(c)  104,567  (89,340) 
- Deferred tax 16  (8,389)  6,729 

   96,178  (82,611) 
Change in insurance contract liabilities arising from  
  unrealised net fair value change 

 
13  (89,598)  77,944 

Net income/(loss)   6,580  (4,667) 

      
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) to be 
  reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods   6,580  (4,667) 
      
Other comprehensive income not to be reclassified to  
  profit or loss in subsequent periods:-      
      
Surplus from revaluation of property:      

- Gross surplus from revaluation   238  169 

      
Changes in insurance contract liabilities arising from  
  revaluation of property 

 
13  (238)  (169) 

Net income   -  - 
      
Net other comprehensive income not to be  
  reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods   -  - 
      
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the 
financial year   6,580  (4,667) 

      
Total comprehensive income for the financial year   19,710  23,730 

      
Total comprehensive income attributable to:      
Equity holder of the Company   19,710  23,730 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
 
 

  
Non-

distributable  Distributable   
 
 
 
 Note 

 
Share 

capital 

 
Fair 

value 
reserve  

 
Retained 

earnings*  

 
Total 

equity 
  RM’000 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

      
At 1 January 2018  150,000  10,850  386,340  547,190 
         

Net profit for the financial year  -  -  28,397  28,397 
Other comprehensive loss for the financial year  -  (4,667)  -  (4,667) 

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the financial year  -  (4,667)  28,397  23,730 
         
Final dividend for the financial year ended 31 December 2017 30 -  -  (100,000)  (100,000) 
         

At 31 December 2018/1 January 2019  150,000  6,183  314,737  470,920 
      
Effect of adoption of MFRS 16 37 - - (11) (11) 
      

At 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 (restated)  150,000 6,183 314,726 470,909 
      

Net profit for the financial year  - - 13,130 13,130 
Other comprehensive income for the financial year  - 6,580 - 6,580 

Total comprehensive income for the financial year  - 6,580 13,130 19,710 
      
Issue of ordinary shares  50,000 - - 50,000 
      

At 31 December 2019  200,000 12,763 327,856 540,619 

      
*Included in the retained earnings are surplus from Non-participating life fund of the Company (net of deferred tax) of approximately RM68,652,000 (31 December 2018: 
RM68,652,000) as further disclosed in note 12. These amounts are only distributable upon the actual recommended transfer from the Non-participating life fund to the 
Shareholder’s fund by the Appointed Actuary. 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019 
 

 Note  2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES      
Net profit for the financial year   13,130  28,397 
Adjustments for non-cash items 31  (273,836)  (2,199) 

Operating (losses)/income before changes in operating  
  assets and liabilities 

 
 (260,706)  26,198 

Purchase of investments 8  (3,497,400)  (3,108,996) 
Proceeds from disposal and maturity of investments   3,284,019  2,926,887 
Interest income received   132,077  123,891 
Dividend income received   64,363  60,194 
Rental income received   2,066  2,983 
Increase in insurance receivables   (1,450)  (371) 
Decrease/(increase) in reinsurance assets   11,517  (3,096) 
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables   1,891  (2,106) 
Decrease in loans receivable   4,020  9,383 
Decrease in fixed and call deposits   32,904  28,910 
Increase/(decrease) in insurance contract liabilities   170,785  (5,560) 
Decrease in insurance claims liabilities   (1,550)  (1,475) 
Increase in payables   44,559  44,103 

Cash (used in)/generated from operations   (12,905)  100,945 
Interest paid 18  (38)  - 
Income taxes paid   (23,991)  (31,515) 

Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities   (36,934)  69,430 

      
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES    
Purchase of property and equipment 4 (1,605)  (325) 
Purchase of intangible assets 6 (3,057)  (820) 
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment  20  124 

Net cash outflow from investing activities (4,642)  (1,021) 

    
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Proceeds from issue of shares 50,000  - 
Dividends paid to shareholders -  (100,000) 
Payment of lease liabilities 18 (734)   

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities 49,266  (100,000) 

    
Net increase/(decrease) during the financial year 7,690  (31,591) 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 54,237  85,828 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 61,927  54,237 

    
 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

Cash and cash equivalents included in the statement of cash flows and statement of financial position 
comprises the following:  
 

  2019  2018 
  RM’000  RM’000 
 

    
Cash and bank balances  37,189  45,794 
Short-term deposits*  24,738  8,443 

Cash and cash equivalents  61,927  54,237 

 
    

*Short-term deposits with original maturities of less than 3 months. 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 

General 
   

The Company is a public limited liability company, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia.  
 

  The immediate holding company is Manulife Holdings Berhad, a public listed company incorporated and 
domiciled in Malaysia and listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad. The ultimate 
holding company is Manulife Financial Corporation, a corporation incorporated and domiciled in Canada 
and listed on the Toronto, New York and Hong Kong Stock Exchanges. 

 
  Principal activities 
 
  The Company is engaged principally in the underwriting of life insurance business. There have been no 

significant changes in the principal activities of the Company during the financial year. 
 
Registered office and principal place of business 

 
  The registered office and principal place of business of the Company is located at 16th Floor, Menara 

Manulife, 6 Jalan Gelenggang, Damansara Heights, 50490 Kuala Lumpur. 
 

 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

  The following accounting policies have been used consistently in dealing with items which are 
considered material in relation to the financial statements. 

 
(a) Basis of preparation  

 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared on a historical cost basis except as 
disclosed in these summary of significant accounting policies, and in accordance with Malaysian 
Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia. 
 
(i) Adoption of new pronouncements in the current year 
 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year 
except for the adoption of the new pronouncements effective from 1 January 2019 as 
follows: 

    

Description 

Effective for 
annual periods 

beginning on 
or after 

MFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019 
MFRS 119 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement   
(Amendments to MFRS 119) 

1 January 2019 

MFRS 128 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures  
(Amendments to MFRS 128) 

1 January 2019 

Annual Improvements to MFRS Standards 2015–2017 Cycle 1 January 2019 
IC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 1 January 2019 
MFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation  
(Amendments to MFRS 9) 

1 January 2019 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
  

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(i) Adoption of new pronouncements in the current year (continued) 
 

The adoption of the above new pronouncements did not have any significant effect on the 
disclosures or amounts recognised in the Company’s financial statements.  
 
MFRS 16 Leases 
 
MFRS 16 replaces the guidance in MFRS 117 Leases, IC Interpretation 4 Determining 
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, IC Interpretation 115 Operating Leases – 
Incentives and IC Interpretation 127 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the 
Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the principles for the recognition, 
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise most 
leases on the balance sheet. 
 
Under MFRS 16, a lease is a contract (or part of a contract) that conveys the right to control 
the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. MFRS 16 
introduces a single accounting model for a lessee and eliminates the classification of leases 
by the lessee as either finance leases (on balance sheet) or operating leases (off balance 
sheet). 
 
i. Lessee 

At the commencement date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make 
lease payments and an asset representing the right to use the underlying asset 
during the lease term. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and 
subsequently measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions), less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any re-measurement of the lease 
liability. The lease liability is initially measured at present value of the lease payments 
that are not paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for interest 
and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease modifications. 
 
Classification of cash flows will also be affected as operating lease payments under 
MFRS 117 are presented as operating cash flows, whereas under MFRS 16, the 
lease payments will be split into a principal (which will be presented as financing cash 
flows) and an interest portion (which will be presented as operating cash flows).  

 
i. Lessor 

Lessor accounting under MFRS 16 is substantially the same as the accounting under 
MFRS 117. Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same classification 
principle as in MFRS 117 and distinguish between two types of leases: operating and 
finance leases.  
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
  

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(i) Adoption of new pronouncements in the current year (continued) 
 

MFRS 16 Leases (continued) 
 

Impact as a result of the adoption of MFRS 16 
 

The Company adopted MFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach on initial date of 
application, 1 January 2019. The Company elected to use the transition practical expedient to 
not reassess whether a contract is, or contains, a lease at 1 January 2019. Instead, the 
Company applied the standard only to contracts that were previously identified as leases 
applying MFRS 117 and IFRIC 4 at the date of initial application. The Company will not apply 
MFRS 16 to contracts previously identified as not containing leases in accordance with 
MFRS 117 and IFRIC 4. 
 
The Company also elected to use the recognition exemptions for lease contracts that, at the 
commencement date, have a lease term of 12 months or less as of date of initial application 
(short-term leases), and lease contracts for which the underlying asset is of low value (low-
value assets). 
 
The impacts arising from the adoption of MFRS 16 are disclosed in note 37.   
 

(ii) Standards and amendments/improvements to published standards and interpretations 
that are issued but not yet effective 

 
The following are accounting standards, interpretations and amendments of the MFRSs that 
have been issued by the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) but have not been 
adopted by the Company. The Company intends to adopt these new pronouncements, if 
applicable, when they become effective. 

 

Description 

Effective for 
annual periods 

beginning on or 
after 

Amendments to MFRS 3 Business Combinations – Definition of 
Business 

1 January 2020 

Amendments to MFRS 101 Presentation of Financial Statements  1 January 2020 
Amendments to MFRS 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 

Estimates and Errors 
1 January 2020 

Amendments to MFRS 9, MFRS 139 and MFRS 7 Interest Rate  
   Benchmark Reform 

1 January 2020 

MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023 
Amendments to MFRS 10 and MFRS 128 Sale or Contribution of Assets 

between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture  
Deferred 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
  

(a) Basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(ii) Standards and amendments/improvements to published standards and interpretations 
that are issued but not yet effective (continued) 

 
MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 
 
MFRS 17 which was issued in August 2018, will replace MFRS 4 Insurance Contracts. MFRS 
17 provides a comprehensive model for insurance contracts covering all relevant accounting 
aspects, from recognition and measurement, presentation and disclosure.  
 
MFRS 17 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. The Company 
plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date and a Project Steering 
Committee has been formed to oversee the implementation for MFRS 17. The Company 
expects that the new standard will result in an important change to the accounting policies for 
insurance contract liabilities of the Company and is likely to have significant impact on the 
total profit and total equity of the Company together with the overall presentation and 
disclosures in the Company’s financial statements. 

 
The Company applied the temporary exemption under Amendments to MFRS 4 Insurance 
Contract Liabilities: Applying MFRS 9 Financial Instruments with MFRS 4 Insurance 
Contracts to defer the adoption of MFRS 9 until 1 January 2023, which is in line with the 
adoption of MFRS 17 Insurance Contracts, as the Company’s activities are predominantly 
connected with insurance, and on the basis of meeting the predominance  “insurance related 
industry” test under Amendments to MFRS 4, whereby the Company’s insurance liabilities is 
more than 90% of the Company’s total liabilities.  
 
Accordingly, the Company's Financial Instruments will continue to be measured and 
classified in accordance with MFRS 139 as set out in note 2(e). 
 
Additional disclosures as required under Amendments to MFRS 4 is included in note 38. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

 (b) Property and equipment 
 

Property and equipment is stated at cost or valuation, less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses, if any. 
 
The cost of property and equipment includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the assets. Dismantlement, removal or restoration costs are included as part of the 
cost of property and equipment if the obligation for dismantlement, removal or restoration is 
incurred as a consequence of acquiring or using the asset. 
 
Subsequent expenditure relating to the property and equipment that has already been recognised 
is added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future economic benefits, in 
excess of the standard of performance of the asset before the expenditure was made, will flow to 
the Company and the cost can be reliably measured. Other subsequent expenditure is recognised 
as an expense during the financial year in which it is incurred.  
 
Land and building which are substantially occupied by the Company for its operations are 
classified under property and equipment. 
 
Land and building are initially stated at cost and subsequently shown at fair value, based on 
independent valuation of the open market value on the existing use basis carried out by 
professional valuers less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. 
These valuations are reviewed annually and a formal valuation by an independent professional 
valuer is carried out once in every five years or earlier if the carrying values of the revalued asset 
are materially different from the market values. Professional and qualified external valuer is 
engaged to perform the formal valuation. Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation, 
independence and whether professional standards are maintained. The Company decides, after 
discussions with the external valuer, which valuation techniques and inputs to use. The valuation 
result is presented to the Board of Directors for approval prior to the adoption of the valuation 
report. 

 
The Company analyses the movements in the values of the property on an annual basis. Desktop 
valuation is performed by the Company in the interim period to obtain an indicative fair value of 
the property. For this analysis, the Company verifies the major inputs applied in the latest 
valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to the valuation report and 
other relevant documents. The Company, in conjunction with the external valuers, also compares 
the change in the fair value of the property with relevant external sources to determine whether 
the change is reasonable. 

 
When the land and building are revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation 
is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset. The net amount is then restated to 
the revalued amount of the asset.  

 
The surplus arising on revaluation is credited to the asset revaluation reserve account within 
insurance contract liabilities except that a surplus, to the extent that such surplus is related to and 
not greater than a deficit arising on revaluation previously recorded as an expense, is credited to 
the profit or loss. A deficit arising on revaluation is recognised as an expense except that, to the 
extent that such a deficit is related to a surplus which was previously recorded as a credit to the 
asset revaluation reserve account and which has not been subsequently reversed or utilised, it is 
charged directly to that account. 
 
No depreciation is charged on freehold land. Leasehold building is amortised in equal installments 
over the period of their respective leases or earlier if the expected useful life is shorter than the 
leasehold period. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Property and equipment (continued) 
 

Work in progress is not depreciated until the asset is ready for its intended use. 
 
All other property and equipment are depreciated on a straight line basis to write off the cost of 
the assets to the residual values over their estimated useful lives. The principal annual rates of 
depreciation used are as follows: 

 
Building - 50 years (subsequent to revaluation, the revalued 
  amounts are depreciated over the remaining useful 
  lives following the date of the latest valuation) 
Furniture, fittings and equipment - 10% to 20% 
Motor vehicles - 20% 
Renovations - 10% 

 
The residual values and useful lives of property and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted as 
appropriate, at each reporting date. 
 
At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is any indication of impairment of 
property and equipment. Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of the 
asset is assessed and written down immediately to its recoverable amount as set out in note 
2(j)(ii) on impairment of non-financial assets. 
 
On disposal of property and equipment, the difference between net proceeds and the carrying 
amount is recognised in profit or loss. On disposal of revalued assets, the amounts of any 
remaining revaluation surplus relating to those assets are transferred to retained earnings. 
 
Repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial year in which they are 
incurred. 
 

(c) Intangible assets 
 

(i) Exclusive right 
 

The exclusive right arises from the 10-year exclusive bancassurance agreement entered into 
between the Company with Alliance Bank Malaysia Berhad (“ABMB”). The exclusive right is 
amortised over the duration of the agreement and the annual amortisation amount is 
calculated with reference to the benefits generated from the partnership (which is defined as 
the annualized premium equivalent) in which the Company expects to recognise the related 
revenue. 
 

(ii) Computer software 
 

Cost of software rights acquired or developed is amortised on a straight-line basis over a 
period of four years. 
 
Computer software in progress is not amortised until the asset is ready for its intended use. 

 
(iii) Distribution agreement 

 
The distribution agreement arises from the 20-year distribution right entered into between the 
Company and an agency leadership corporation. The distribution agreement is amortised 
over the duration of the agreement and the annual amortisation amount is calculated based 
on the consumption pattern of the distribution, which is the contracted number of agents. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(c) Intangible assets (continued) 
 

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there is any indication of impairment of its 
intangible assets. Where an indication of impairment exists, the carrying amount of the asset is 
assessed and written down immediately to its recoverable amount as set out in note 2(j)(ii) on 
impairment of non-financial assets. 

 
(d) Leases 
 

Before 1 January 2019 
 

(i) Classification 
 
A lease is recognised as a finance lease if it transfers substantially to the Company all the 
risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Leases of land and buildings are classified as 
operating or finance leases in the same way as leases of other assets and the land and 
buildings elements of a lease of land and buildings are considered separately for the 
purposes of lease classification. All leases that do not transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards are classified as operating leases. 
 

(ii) Finance Leases – the Company as Lessee  
 
Useful lives of all leasehold buildings are shorter than the lease term of the leasehold land on 
which the buildings are located.  As such, all risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of 
such assets would be deemed to have been substantially transferred to the Company at the 
end of their useful lives. All leasehold buildings are therefore classified as finance lease in 
the financial statements. 
 
Buildings held under finance leases are recognised as assets in the Balance Sheet of the 
Company and measured in accordance with MFRS 116 - Property, Plant and Equipment or 
MFRS 140 - Investment Properties. 
 
The depreciation policy for leased assets is in accordance with that for depreciable property 
and equipment as described in note 2(b) or investment properties as described in note 2(i). 
 

(iii) Operating Leases – the Company as Lessee  
 
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the relevant lease. 
 
In the case of a lease of land and buildings, the minimum lease payments or the up-front 
payments made are allocated, whenever necessary, between the land and the buildings 
elements in proportion to the relative fair values for leasehold interests in the land element 
and buildings element of the lease at the inception of the lease. The up-front payment 
represents prepaid lease payments and are amortised on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. Long term prepaid lease payments refer to leases with an unexpired period of fifty 
years or more. 
 

(iv) Operating Leases – the Company as Lessor 
 
Assets leased out under operating leases are presented on the balance sheet according to 
the nature of the assets.  Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease (note 21). Initial direct costs incurred in 
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased 
asset and recognised on a straight-line basis on the lease term. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(d) Leases (continued) 

 
After 1 January 2019 
 
At the inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. 
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract involves the use of an identified asset and 
conveys the right to control the use of the asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration 
– i.e. the customer has the right to: 
 

• obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from using the asset; and 
 

• direct the use of the asset. 
 

(i) As Lessee  
 
The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the commencement 
date of the lease. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the 
amount of lease liability, any lease payments made or before the commencement date, any 
indirect costs incurred and an estimate of the costs to dismantle and remove the underlying 
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less any lease 
incentive received. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease 
payments that are not paid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Company’s incremental 
borrowing rate. 
 
Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is depreciated using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the 
end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives of the right-of-use assets are determined 
on the same basis as those of property and equipment (see note 2(b)). In addition, the 
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is reduced by any impairment losses and adjusted 
for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 
 
The lease liability is subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. It is remeasured to reflect any lease modifications or reassessments. 
 
The Company presents its right-of-use assets in ‘right-of-use assets’ and ‘lease liabilities’ in 
the balance sheet. 
 
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
 
The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and leases liabilities for 
short-term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value 
assets. The Company recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 

(ii) As Lessor 
 
The Company classifies all leases for which it is a lessor as operating leases, because each 
of these leases does not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the underlying asset. 
 
Lease payments from operating leases are recognised as income on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term and are reported as rental income. The accounting policy for rental 
income is set out in note 2(t). 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

 (e) Financial instruments 
 

(i) Classification, recognition and measurement of financial assets 
 

The Company classifies the financial assets into the following categories: financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), held-to-maturity (“HTM”) financial assets, 
available-for-sale (“AFS”) financial assets and loans and receivables (“LAR”). 

 
The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired or 
originated. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial 
recognition. 

 
(1) FVTPL 

 
Financial assets at FVTPL include financial assets held for trading, including derivatives 
(except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and 
effective hedging instrument) and those designated at fair value through profit or loss at 
inception. Investments typically bought with the intention to sell in the near future are 
classified as held-for-trading. For investments designated at fair value through profit or 
loss, the following criteria must be met: 

 

• the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent treatment that 
would otherwise arise from measuring the assets or liabilities or recognising gains or 
losses on a different basis, or 

 

• the assets and liabilities are part of a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or 
both which are managed and their performance are evaluated on a fair value basis, 
in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy. 

 
These investments are initially recorded at fair value and transaction costs are 
expensed in the profit or loss. Subsequent to initial recognition, these investments are 
remeasured at fair value. Fair value adjustments and realised gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Derivative financial instruments held by the Company are forward foreign exchange 
contracts to hedge its currency risks. Any fair value gains on these derivative financial 
instruments are recognised as financial assets. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(e) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(i) Classification, recognition and measurement of financial assets (continued) 
 
(2) HTM 

 

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities 
are classified as HTM when the Company has the positive intention and ability to hold 
until maturity. These investments are initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of 
the consideration paid for the acquisition of the investments. After initial measurement, 
HTM financial assets are measured at amortised cost, using the effective yield method, 
less any allowance for impairment losses. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or 
loss when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the 
amortisation process. 

 
(3) LAR 

 

LAR are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. These investments are initially recognised at cost, being 
the fair value of the consideration paid for the acquisition of the investments. All 
transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition are also included in the cost of 
the investments. After initial measurement, loans and receivables are measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective yield method, less any allowance for impairment 
losses. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the investments are 
derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. 
 

(4) AFS 
 
AFS are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are 
not classified in any of the three preceding categories. These investments are initially 
recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration paid for the acquisition of 
the investments. After initial measurement, AFS are remeasured at fair value, with gains 
or losses recognised in other comprehensive income, except for impairment losses.  
 
Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active 
market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost. 
 
On derecognition, the cumulative fair value gains and losses previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 

 
(ii) Derecognition of financial assets 

 

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial 
assets have expired or when they have been transferred and the Company have also 
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.  

  
 On derecognition of financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the carrying 

amount and the sum of consideration received or receivable and any cumulative gain or 
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in profit or 
loss. 

  
All financial assets, except for FVTPL, are subject to review for impairment as set out in 
note 2(j)(i). 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(f) Fair value of financial instruments 
 

The fair value of financial instruments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is 
determined by reference to quoted market bid prices for assets and offer prices for liabilities, at 
the close of business on the reporting date. 

 

For investments in unit and real estate investment trusts, fair value is determined by reference to 
published bid values. 

 

For financial instruments where there is no active market, the fair value is determined by using 
valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s length transactions, reference 
to the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same, discounted cash 
flow analysis and/or option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as 
little as possible on entity-specific inputs. For discounted cash flow techniques, estimated future 
cash flows are based on management’s best estimates and the discount rate used is a market 
related rate for a similar instrument. Certain financial instruments are valued using pricing models 
that consider, among other factors, contractual and market prices, co-relation, time value of 
money, credit risk, yield curve volatility factors and/or prepayment rates of the underlying 
positions. The use of different pricing models and assumptions could produce materially different 
estimates of fair values. 
 

The fair value of floating rate and over-night deposits with financial institutions is their carrying 
value. The carrying value is the cost of the deposits/placements and accrued interests/profits. The 
fair value of fixed interest/yield-bearing deposits is estimated using discounted cash flow 
techniques. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates for similar instruments at 
the reporting date. 
 

If the fair value cannot be measured reliably, these financial instruments are measured at cost, 
being the fair value of the consideration paid for the acquisition of the instrument or the amount 
received on issuing the financial liability. All transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition 
are also included in the cost of the investment.  
 

(g) Financial liabilities 
   

All financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost other than those categorised as fair value through profit or loss. 
 

Fair value through profit or loss category comprises financial liabilities that are held for trading, 
derivatives (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a designated and 
effective hedging instrument) or financial liabilities that are specifically designated into this 
category at inception. 
 

Derivative financial instruments held by the Company are forward foreign exchange contracts to 
hedge its currency risks. Any fair value losses on these derivative financial instruments are 
recognised as financial liabilities. 
 

Other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Interest expense and any gains or losses on derecognition are recognised in the profit or loss. 
  

(h) Offsetting of financial assets and financial liabilities 
   

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and net amount reported in the statement of 
financial position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts 
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liability 
simultaneously. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(i) Investment property 
 

Investment property comprises land and building held by the Company which are held for long 
term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both and are not substantially occupied by the 
Company. 
 
Investment property is initially measured at cost including related and incidental expenditure 
incurred, and is subsequently carried at fair value by the directors based on independent 
valuation of the open market values on existing use basis carried out by professional valuer. 
These valuations are reviewed annually and a formal valuation by an independent professional 
valuer is carried out once in every three years or earlier if the carrying values of the investment 
property are materially different from the market value. Professional and qualified external valuer 
is engaged to perform the formal valuation. Selection criteria include market knowledge, 
reputation, independence and whether professional standards are maintained. The Company 
decides, after discussions with the external valuer, which valuation techniques and inputs to use. 
The valuation result is presented to the Board of Directors for approval prior to the adoption of the 
valuation report.  
 
The Company analyses the movements in the values of the property on an annual basis. Desktop 
valuation is performed by the Company in the interim period to obtain an indicative fair value of 
the property.  For this analysis, the Company verifies the major inputs applied in the latest 
valuation by agreeing the information in the valuation computation to the valuation report and 
other relevant documents. The Company, in conjunction with the external valuer, also compares 
the change in the fair value of the property with relevant external sources to determine whether 
the change is reasonable.  
 
Any changes in the fair values of investment property are recorded in the profit or loss. 
 
On disposal of investment property, the difference between net proceeds and the carrying amount 
is recognised in the profit or loss as appropriate. 
 
If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified to property and equipment at 
its carrying value at the date of transfer. 
 

(j) Impairment of assets 
 

(i) Financial assets  
 

The Company assesses at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that 
a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 
 
Financial assets carried at amortised cost 
 
The Company first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually 
for financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for 
financial assets that are not individually significant. If it is determined that no objective 
evidence of impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether 
significant or not, the asset is included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk 
characteristics and that group of financial assets is collectively assessed for impairment. 
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or 
continues to be recognised are not included in the collective assessment of impairment. The 
impairment assessment is performed at each reporting date. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(j) Impairment of assets (continued) 
 

(i) Financial assets (continued) 
 

Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued) 
 
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets carried at 
amortised cost has been incurred, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the 
difference between the financial asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the 
financial asset is reduced and the impairment loss is recorded in the profit or loss. 
 
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease 
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the 
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of an 
impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss, to the extent that the carrying value of the 
asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. 
 
AFS financial assets 
 
If an AFS financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising the difference between its cost 
(net of any principal repayment and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any 
impairment losses as previously recognised in the profit or loss, is transferred from equity or 
insurance contract liabilities to the profit or loss.  
 
Reversal of impairment losses on equity instruments classified as AFS financial assets are 
not recognised in the profit or loss. Increase in fair value, if any, subsequent to impairment 
loss is recognised in other comprehensive income. Reversal of impairment losses on debt 
instruments classified as AFS financial assets are reversed through the profit or loss if the 
increase in the fair value of the instruments can be objectively related to an event occurring 
after the impairment losses were recognised in the profit or loss. 
 

(ii) Non-financial assets 
 

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. Impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the carrying amount of 
the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset is the 
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal. For the purposes of 
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which there is separately 
identifiable cash flows. 
 
Impairment losses recognised in prior periods are assessed at the end of each reporting 
period for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment 
loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. An impairment loss is 
reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised. Reversals of 
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the financial year in which the reversals 
are recognised. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(k) Employee benefits 
 

(i) Short-term employee benefits 
 

Wages, salaries, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses, social security contributions 
and non-monetary benefits are accrued in the financial year in which the associated 
services are rendered by employees of the Company. 

 
(ii)  Post-employment benefits 

 
The Company is required to contribute to the Employees’ Provident Fund, a defined 
contribution plan. 
 
Other than the mandatory contributions to the Employees’ Provident Fund, the Company 
makes contributions to a separately funded defined contribution retirement benefits scheme 
(“the Scheme”), which is operated by the immediate holding company and administered by 
the Trustees of the Scheme, for all employees of the Group, including employees of the 
Company. Under the Scheme, the Company shall make contributions to the Scheme at 
such rate and at such frequency as shall be determined from time to time by the immediate 
holding company and the Trustees of the Scheme, with the advice of an Actuary, provided 
that the total contribution by the Company to the Scheme and to the Employees’ Provident 
Fund does not exceed 15% of the employees’ salary. Actuarial investigation is carried out 
periodically to assess the financial condition of the Scheme. 

 
The contribution payable for the financial year is charged to the profit or loss. Once the 
contributions have been paid, the Company has no further payment obligations. 

 
(iii)  Share-based compensation 

 
The Company participated in share-based compensation plans granted to certain 
employees of Manulife Financial Corporation Group as consideration for services rendered. 
These plans include both equity-settled share-based and cash-settled share-based 
compensation scheme to eligible employees.  

 
(i) Equity-settled share-based compensation 

 
The fair value of equity-settled share-based compensation granted to employees as at 
the grant date is recognised in the profit and loss over the vesting periods of the grant. 
The fair value of the grant is measured using the Black Scholes option pricing model, 
with the market price or strike price being the closing transaction price of Manulife 
Financial Corporation (“MFC”) shares prior to the grant date. In valuing the share-based 
payments, no account is taken of any performance conditions, other than conditions 
linked to the price of the shares of MFC if applicable.  
 
At each date of the statement of financial position, the Company reviews its estimates 
of the number of employees expected to meet service vesting conditions and the fair 
value of the liability incurred. The impact of the revision of the original estimate, if any, 
is recognised in the profit or loss. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(k) Employee benefits (continued) 
 

(iii) Share-based compensation (continued) 
 

(ii) Cash-settled share-based compensation 
 

Cash-settled share-based compensation relates to the employee services received in 
exchange for the grant of the share appreciation rights. The fair value of the 
compensation is recognised in the profit or loss over the vesting periods of the grant 
with a corresponding increase in liabilities. 
 
The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to 
the fair value of the share appreciation rights of MFC. At each date of the statement of 
financial position, the Company reviews its estimates of the number of employees 
expected to meet service vesting conditions and the fair value of the liability incurred. 
The impact of the revision of the original estimate, if any, is recognised in the profit or 
loss. 
 
The cumulative liability incurred net of any directly attributable transaction costs, will be 
reversed as cash is paid at the end of the vesting period. 
 

(l) Foreign currencies 
 

(i) Functional and Presentation currency 

 

Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency 

of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates (“the functional 

currency”). 
 

The financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia, which is the Company’s 

functional and presentation currency. 
 

(ii) Transactions and balances 
 

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are 

translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 

transactions. Currency translation gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 

transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and 

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the statement of profit or loss.  

 
(iii) Operations denominated in functional currency other than Ringgit Malaysia 

 

The results and financial position of investment-linked funds’ operations (none of which has 

the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) with functional currency that is different from 

the presentation currency of the Company are translated into the presentation currency as 

follows: 
  

(1)  Assets and liabilities for the statement of financial position presented are translated at 
the closing rate at the date of the statement of financial position; and 

 
(2) Income and expenses for profit or loss are translated at the average exchange rate 

unless this average rate is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of 
the rates prevailing on the transaction date, in which case income and expenses are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date of the transactions. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(m) Product classification 
 

An insurance contract is a contract under which the Company (the insurer) has accepted 
significant insurance risk from another party (the policyholders) by agreeing to compensate the 
policyholders if a specified uncertain future event (the insured event) adversely affects the 
policyholders. For purposes of MFRS 4 Insurance Contracts, the Company defines insurance risk 
to be significant when the benefits payable on the occurrence of the insured event are 5% or 
more than the benefits payable if the insured event did not occur at any one point of the insurance 
contract. Based on this definition, all policy contracts issued by the Company, including 
investment-linked contracts, are considered insurance contracts as at the date of the statement of 
financial position. The investment components of the investment-linked contracts are not 
unbundled. 

 
Investment contracts are those contracts that do not transfer significant insurance risk, but 
significant financial risk. Financial risk is the risk of a possible future change in one or more of a 
specified interest rate, financial instrument price, commodity price, foreign exchange rate, index of 
price or rate, credit rating or credit index or other variable, provided in the case of a non-financial 
variable that the variable is not specific to a party to the contract. Insurance risk is the risk other 
than financial risk. 
 
Once a contract has been classified as an insurance contract, it remains an insurance contract for 
the remainder of its life-time, even if the insurance risk reduces significantly during this period, 
unless all rights and obligations are extinguished or expired. Investment contracts can, however, 
be reclassified as insurance contracts after inception if insurance risk becomes significant.  
 
Insurance and investment contracts are further classified as being either with or without 
discretionary participation features (“DPF”). DPF is a contractual right to receive, as a supplement 
to guaranteed benefits, additional benefits that are: 

 

• likely to be a significant portion of the total contractual benefits; 

• whose amount or timing is contractually at the discretion of the issuer; and 

• that are contractually based on the: 
- performance of a specified pool of contracts or a specified type of contract; 
- realised and/or unrealised investment returns on a specified pool of assets held by the 

issuer; or 
- profit or loss of the Company, fund or other entity that issues the contract. 

 
Contracts in the Participating life funds are classified as insurance contracts with DPF and 
contracts in the Non-participating life funds are classified as insurance contracts without DPF. 
 
For financial options and guarantees which are not closely related to the host insurance contract 
and/or investment contract with DPF, bifurcation is required to measure these embedded 
derivatives separately at fair value through profit or loss. However, bifurcation is not required if the 
embedded derivative is itself an insurance contract and/or investment contract with DPF, or if the 
host insurance contract and/or investment contract itself is measured at fair value through profit or 
loss. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(n) Reinsurance 
 

The Company cedes insurance risk in the normal course of business for its businesses. 
Reinsurance assets represent balances due from reinsurance companies. Amounts recoverable 
from reinsurers are estimated in a manner consistent with the outstanding claims provision or 
settled claims associated with the reinsurer’s policies and are in accordance with the related 
reinsurance contracts. 
 
Ceded reinsurance arrangements do not relieve the Company from its obligations to 
policyholders. Premiums and claims are presented on a gross basis for ceded reinsurance. 
 
Reinsurance assets are reviewed for impairment at each reporting date or more frequently when 
an indication of impairment arises during the reporting period. Impairment occurs when there is 
objective evidence as a result of an event that occurred after initial recognition of the reinsurance 
asset that the Company may not receive all outstanding amounts due under the terms of the 
contract and the event has a reliably measurable impact on the amounts that the Company will 
receive from the reinsurer. The impairment loss is recorded in the profit or loss. 
 
Reinsurance liabilities represent balances due to reinsurance companies. Amounts payable are 
estimated in a manner consistent with the related reinsurance contract.  
 
Reinsurance assets or liabilities are derecognised when the contractual rights are extinguished or 
expire or when the contract is transferred to another party. 

 
(o) Life insurance underwriting results 

 
(i) Gross premiums 

 

Premium income includes premium recognised in the Life fund and the Investment-linked 

funds. Premium income of the Life fund is recognised as soon as the amount of the premium 

can be reliably measured. First premium is recognised from inception date and subsequent 

premium is recognised when it is due. 

 

At the end of the financial year, all due premiums are accounted for to the extent that they 

can be reliably measured. 

 

Premium income of the Investment-linked funds is in respect of the net creation of units 

which represents premiums paid by policyholders as payment for a new contract or 

subsequent payments to increase the amount of that contract. Net creation of units is 

recognised on a receipt basis. 
 

(ii) Reinsurance premiums 
 

Outward reinsurance premiums are recognised in the same accounting period as the original 

policies to which the reinsurance relates. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(o) Life insurance underwriting results (continued) 
 

(iii) Commission and agency expenses 

 

Commission and agency expenses, which are costs directly incurred in securing premium on 

insurance policies and net of income derived from reinsurers in the course of ceding of 

premium to reinsurers, are charged to the profit or loss in the financial year in which they are 

incurred. 
 

 (iv) Benefits, claims and expenses  

 

Benefits and claims that are incurred during the financial year are recognised when a 

claimable event occurs and/or when the insurer is notified. 

 

Recoveries on reinsurance claims are accounted for in the same financial year as the 

original claims are recognised. 

 

Benefits and claims for claims arising on life insurance policies including settlement costs, 

less reinsurance recoveries, are accounted for using the case basis method and for this 

purpose, the benefits payable under a life insurance policy are recognised as follows: 

 

(1) maturity or other policy benefit payments due on specified dates are treated as claims 

payable on the due dates; and 

 

(2) death, surrender and other benefits without due dates are treated as claims payable, on 

the date of receipt of intimation of death of the assured or occurrence of contingency 

covered. 
 

(p) Insurance receivables 
 

Insurance receivables are recognised when due and measured on initial recognition at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable. Subsequent to initial recognition, insurance 
receivables are measured at amortised cost, using the effective yield method.  
 
If there is objective evidence that the insurance receivables are impaired, the Company reduces 
the carrying amount of the insurance receivables accordingly and recognises that impairment loss 
in the profit or loss. The Company gathers the objective evidence that an insurance receivable is 
impaired using the same process adopted for financial assets carried at amortised cost and 
impairment loss is calculated under the same method used for these financial assets as set out in 
note 2(j)(i) on impairment.  
 
Insurance receivables are derecognised when the derecognition criteria for financial assets, as 
described in note 2(e)(ii), have been met.  
 

(q) Assets held for sale 
 

Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale and stated at the lower of carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amounts are recovered principally through 
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(r) Taxation 
 

Current income tax 
 

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 
from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount 
are those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current income tax is 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 
 
Deferred tax  
 
Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax 
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the 
reporting date. 
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will 
be available against which the deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses can be 
utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting date and are reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that the related benefit will be realised.  
 
Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the date of the statement of financial position and are expected to apply when the 
related deferred tax asset is realised or when the deferred tax liability is settled. Deferred tax is 
recognised in the profit or loss except when it arises from a transaction which is recognised in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity or directly in the insurance contract liabilities, in 
which case, the deferred tax is also charged or credited to other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity or directly in the insurance contract liabilities.  

 
(s) Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank balances and deposits held at call with 
financial institutions with original maturities of three months or less. It excludes deposits which are 
held for investment purpose. 
  
The Company classifies cash flows from the acquisition and disposal of financial assets as 
operating cash flows, as the purchases are funded from cash flows associated with the origination 
of insurance contracts, net of cash flows for payments of benefits and claims incurred for 
insurance contracts, which are respectively treated under the operating activities.  
 

(t) Other revenue recognition 
 

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective interest rate method in profit or 
loss. When a loan and receivable is impaired, the Company reduces the carrying amount to its 
recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original effective 
interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest 
income on impaired loans and receivables is recognised using the original effective interest rate. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
  
(t) Other revenue recognition (continued) 

 
Other interest income including the amount of amortisation of premiums and accretion of 
discounts is recognised on a time proportion basis that takes into account the effective yield of the 
assets. 
 
Dividend income is recognised in the profit or loss on the date that the Company’s right to receive 
payment is established, which in the case of quoted securities is the ex-dividend date. 
 
Rental income from investment property is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the term of the lease. 
 
Realised gains and losses recorded in the profit or loss on investments include gains and losses 
on financial assets and investment property. Gains and losses on the sale of investments are 
calculated as the difference between net sales proceeds and the original or amortised cost and 
are recorded on occurrence of the sale transaction.  
 
Fee income is recognised when the services are provided. 
 

(u) Dividends on ordinary share capital 
 
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as a liability in the financial year in which it is 
declared and approved by the Company’s shareholder. 

 
(v) Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

 
The Company does not recognise a contingent liability but discloses its existence in the financial 
statements. A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events whose 
existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events beyond the control of the Company or a present obligation that is not recognised because 
it is not probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation. A contingent 
liability also arises in the extremely rare circumstance where there is a liability that cannot be 
recognised because it cannot be measured reliably. 
 
A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events whose existence will be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond 
the control of the Company. The Company does not recognise contingent assets but discloses 
their existence where inflows of economic benefits are probable, but not virtually certain. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
  
(w) Insurance contract liabilities 

   
(i) Actuarial liabilities 

 

Actuarial liabilities are recognised when contracts are entered into and premiums are 

charged. 

 

These liabilities are measured by the gross premium valuation method, a prospective 

actuarial valuation method. The liability is determined as the sum of the present value of 

future guaranteed and, in the case of a Participating life policy, appropriate level of non-

guaranteed benefits, and the expected future management and distribution expenses, less 

the present value of future gross considerations arising from the policy discounted at the 

appropriate risk discount rate. The liability is based on best estimate assumptions and with 

due regard to significant recent experience. An appropriate allowance for provision of risk 

margin for adverse deviation from expected experience is made in the valuation of Non-

participating life policies, the guaranteed benefits liabilities of Participating life policies, Non-

participating annuity policies and non-unit liabilities of Investment-linked policies. 

 

The liability in respect of policies of a Participating insurance contract is taken as the higher 

of the guaranteed benefit liabilities or the total benefit liabilities at the fund level. 

 

In the case of a life policy where a part of, or the whole of the premiums are accumulated in 

a fund, the accumulated amount, as declared to the policy owners, are set as the liabilities if 

the accumulated amount is higher than the figure as calculated using the prospective 

actuarial valuation method. 

 

Where policies or extensions of a policy are collectively treated as an asset at the fund level 

under the valuation method adopted, the value of such asset is eliminated through 

zerorisation. 

 

In the case of a 1-year life policy or a 1-year extension to a life policy covering contingencies 

other than death or survival, the liability for such life insurance contracts comprises the 

provision for unearned premiums and unexpired risks, as well as for claims outstanding, 

which includes an estimate of the incurred claims that have not yet been reported to the 

Company. 

 

The liability is derecognised when the contract expires, is discharged or is cancelled. 

 

At each reporting date, an assessment is made of whether the recognised insurance 

contract liabilities are adequate, net of present value of in-force business (“PVIF”) by using 

an existing liability adequacy test. 
 

Any inadequacy is recorded in the profit or loss, initially by impairing PVIF and subsequently 

by establishing technical reserves for the remaining loss. In subsequent periods, the liability 

for a block of business that has failed the adequacy test is based on the assumptions that 

are established at the time of the loss recognition. Impairment losses resulting from liability 

adequacy testing can be reversed in future years if the impairment no longer exists. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 
(w) Insurance contract liabilities (continued) 

   
  (ii) Unallocated surplus 

 

Surpluses of contracts under the Participating life funds are attributable to policyholders and 

shareholder and the amount and timing of distribution to both the policyholders and 

shareholder are determined by an actuarial valuation of the long term liabilities to 

policyholders at the date of the statement of financial position and is made in accordance 

with the provisions of the Financial Services Act 2013 and policy documents issued by BNM. 

 

Unallocated surplus of Participating life funds, where the amounts of surplus are yet to be 

allocated or distributed to either policyholders or shareholder by the end of the financial year, 

are held within the insurance contract liabilities.  

 

Unallocated surplus for Non-participating funds is recognised as equity, as the policyholders 

do not have any rights over this unallocated surplus. The shareholder will ultimately have the 

rights over this unallocated surplus upon the recommendation of distribution by the 

Appointed Actuary. Hence, the unallocated surplus represents the residual interest of the 

shareholder in the assets of the Non-participating fund after deducting all its liabilities and it 

is recognised as equity accordingly. 

 
(iii) Fair value reserve 

 

Fair value gains and losses on AFS financial assets of Participating life fund are initially 

recognised in other comprehensive income. Subsequently, an equivalent amount of 

adjustment to the insurance contract liabilities is recognised. 

 
(iv) Asset revaluation reserve 

 

Revaluation surplus and deficit of freehold property of the Participating life fund are initially 

recognised in other comprehensive income. Subsequently, an equivalent amount of 

adjustment to the insurance contract liabilities is recognised. 

 
(v) Net asset value attributable to unit holders 

 

The unit liability of Investment-linked policies is equal to the net asset value of the 

Investment-linked funds, which represents net premium received and investment returns 

credited to the policy less deduction for mortality, morbidity costs and expense charges. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
(x) Fair value measurement 
 

Fair value of an asset or liability is measured at a price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction 
to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market or in the absence 
of a principal market, in the most advantageous market. 
 
For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement takes into account a market participant’s 
ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it 
to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 
 
The valuation techniques and categories of fair values of assets and liabilities are further 
described in note 4, note 5, note 33(b) and note 33(c).  

 
(y) Investment in subsidiary 
 

A subsidiary is an entity over which the Company has all of the following: 
 

• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the 

relevant activities of the investee); 

• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its investment with the investee; and 

• The power to use its power over the investee to affect its return.  
 
In the Company’s separate financial statements, investment in subsidiary is accounted for at cost 
less accumulated impairment losses. 
 
On disposal of subsidiary, the difference between the net disposal proceed and the carrying 
amount is recognised as gain or loss on disposal in the income statement. 
 
In accordance with the exemption provisions of MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements, 
consolidated financial statements have not been prepared as the Company is a wholly owned 
subsidiary of Manulife Holdings Berhad, a public limited liability company, incorporated and 
domiciled in Malaysia, and listed on the Main Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, which 
produces financial statements available for public use and which comply with MFRS and IFRS.  
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 
 

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, the Company establishes estimates, 
assumptions and judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities. Estimates and 
judgements are continuously evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events and reinsurance premium levels that are believed to be 
reasonable with the knowledge and information then available. Best estimate assumptions are constantly 
reviewed to ensure that they remain relevant and valid. The resulting accounting estimates will, by 
definition, seldom equal to the related actual results.  
 
Significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies that 
have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements are as follows:- 
 
(i) Valuation of freehold property and investment property – note 4 and note 5 
(ii) Impairment of financial assets – note 2(j)(i) 
(iii) Impairment of intangible assets – note 2(j)(ii) 
 
The estimates, assumptions and judgements that have significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the future are discussed below. 
 
Leases 
 
Incremental borrowing rates for leases 
 
The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate ("IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate 
of the interest that the Company would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar 
security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar 
economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Company 'would have to pay', which requires 
estimation when no observable rates are available or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms 
and conditions of the lease. The Company estimates the IBR using observable inputs when available and 
is required to make certain entity-specific estimates. 
 
Valuation of actuarial liabilities 
 
The valuation of the ultimate liability arising from policy benefits made under life insurance contracts is 
the Company’s most critical accounting estimate. The assumptions in relation to mortality, morbidity, 
longevity, investment returns, expenses, surrender rates (including lapses, Investment-linked premium, 
persistency and partial withdrawal), policyholders’ bonuses/dividends and discount rates are used for 
calculating the liabilities during the life of the contract. Such assumptions require a significant amount of 
professional judgement and therefore, actual experience may be different than the assumptions made by 
the Company. Actual experience is monitored to assess whether the assumptions remain appropriate or 
assumptions are changed as warranted. Any movement in the key assumptions will have an effect in 
determining the actuarial liabilities. All contracts are subject to a liability adequacy test, which reflect 
management’s best current estimate.  
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 

Valuation of actuarial liabilities (continued) 
 

The key assumptions used in the estimation of actuarial liabilities are as follows: 
 

Interest rate 
 
The discount rates used for the valuation of Non-participating life fund (except for universal life Non-
participating policy), Non-participating annuity fund, Investment-linked operating fund and the guaranteed 
benefits liabilities of the Participating life funds under the “Risk-Based Capital Framework for Insurers” 
are described below:-  
 
(i) For cash flows with duration of less than 15 years, Malaysian Government Bond zero coupon spot 

yields of matching duration are used; and 
 

(ii)  For cash flows with duration of 15 years or more, Malaysian Government Bond zero coupon spot 
yields of 15 years to maturity are used  

 

where duration is the term to maturity of each future cash flow. 
 
Zero coupon spot yields as at current financial year end are obtained from Bond Pricing Agency Malaysia 
Sdn Bhd. (a bond pricing agency approved by BNM) and used for the valuation of guaranteed liabilities 
for all products, except for the US dollar denominated variable annuity (“VA”) which used the 
corresponding US treasury yield as the valuation interest rate. 

 
For the valuation of total benefits liabilities of the Participating life funds and universal life Non-
participating policy, a suitable discount rate based on the historical yield and future investment outlook of 
the respective fund is used. 
 
The table below shows the valuation discounting forward yields for the respective Life funds, after taking 
into consideration the applicable adjustment on investment expense and investment income tax.   
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Calendar Year 

Resultant Valuation Discounting Yields 

Ordinary Par 
 

Annuity Par 
Non-Par 

Annuity + 
Non-Par + IL  

Non-Par 
Universal Life 

IL SIP (VA) 

2020 4.79% 2.98% 2.98% 4.18% 1.59% 
2021 4.89% 3.00% 3.00% 4.14% 1.57% 
2022 4.98% 3.20% 3.20% 4.10% 1.70% 
2023 5.07% 3.46% 3.46% 4.06% 1.76% 
2024 5.16% 3.51% 3.51% 4.03% 1.83% 
2025 5.26% 3.65% 3.65% 3.99% 2.11% 
2026 5.35% 3.44% 3.44% 3.95% 2.25% 
2027 5.44% 3.32% 3.32% 3.91% 2.07% 
2028 5.54% 3.23% 3.23% 3.87% 2.13% 
2029 5.63% 3.51% 3.51% 3.83% 2.19% 
2030 5.72% 4.10% 4.10% 3.79% 2.28% 
2031 5.72% 4.24% 4.24% 3.79% 2.35% 
2032 5.72% 4.38% 4.38% 3.79% 2.42% 
2033 5.72% 4.81% 4.81% 3.79% 2.48% 
2034 5.72% 4.38% 4.38% 3.79% 2.55% 
2035 5.72% 3.68% 3.68% 3.79% 2.09% 

2036+ 5.72% 3.68% 3.68% 3.79% 2.09% 
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3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
Valuation of actuarial liabilities (continued) 
 
Mortality, morbidity, critical illness, expenses and surrenders (including lapses, Investment-linked 
premium, persistency and partial withdrawal) 
 

Assumptions on mortality are derived from the Company’s historical experience. For morbidity and critical 
illness assumptions, they are based on reinsurance premium tables, adjusted where appropriate to 
reflect the Company’s unique risk exposure, product characteristics, target markets and own claims 
severity and frequency experiences. For those contracts that insure risks to longevity, prudent allowance 
is made for expected future mortality improvements. 
 

Assumptions on future expenses are based on current expense levels with appropriate expected 
expense inflation adjustments.  
 

Assumptions on surrenders (including lapses, Investment-linked premium, persistency and partial 
withdrawal) are derived from the Company’s historical experience. 
 

All assumptions are monitored through regular experience studies to ensure relevance and 
appropriateness.   
 
For the Non-participating life fund, Non-participating annuity fund, Investment-linked operating fund and 
the guaranteed benefits liabilities of the Participating life funds, provision of risk for adverse deviation 
(“PRAD”) assumptions are added to the best estimate assumptions.  
 
For the valuation of total benefit liabilities of the Participating life funds, the best estimates assumptions 
are used. 
 
Participating Policyholders’ Bonuses/Dividends 
 
Continuance of current bonus level is assumed in the best estimate valuation. 
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4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

    Furniture,       
    Work in  fittings and  Motor     

 Note Building progress  equipment  vehicles  Renovations  Total 

 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Cost/valuation           

At 1 January 2018 10,351 779 18,757  443  2,684  33,014 

Additions - 87 215  7  16  325 

Disposal  - - (437)  (210)  -  (647) 

Transfer to intangible assets 6 - (3) -  -  -  (3) 

Transfer to furniture, fittings and equipment - (312) 312  -  -  - 

Transfer to renovations - (277) -  -  277  - 

Transfer to related company 32 - (139) -  -  -  (139) 

Transfer from holding company 32 - - 261  -  802  1,063 

Revaluation adjustment  13 (38) - -  -  -  (38) 

At 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 10,313 135 19,108  240  3,779  33,575 

Additions - 586 978  -  41  1,605 

Disposal - - (7)  -  -  (7) 

Write off  25 - - (423)  -  (654)  (1,077) 

Revaluation adjustment  13 32 - -  -  -  32 

At 31 December 2019 10,345 721 19,656  240  3,166  34,128 
          
Comprising assets stated at 31 December 2019:          

Valuation       10,345 - -  -  -  10,345 

Cost                - 721 19,656  240  3,166  23,783 

       10,345        721  19,656  240  3,166  34,128 

Comprising assets stated at 31 December 2018:            

Valuation     10,313  -  -  -  -  10,313 

Cost            -  135  19,108  240  3,779  23,262 

     10,313  135  19,108  240  3,779  33,575 
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4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 

    Furniture,     
    Work in  fittings and  Motor     

 Note Building progress  equipment  vehicles  Renovations  Total 

 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

           

Accumulated depreciation           

          

At 1 January 2018 - - 14,469  179  822  15,470 

Charge for the financial year 25 207 - 1,136  79  304  1,726 

Disposal  - - (437)  (90)  -  (527) 

Reversal on revaluation 13 (207) - -  -  -  (207) 

At 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 - - 15,168  168  1,126  16,462 

Charge for the financial year 25 206 - 1,014  46  389  1,655 

Disposal - - (5)  -  -  (5) 

Write off  25 - - (330)  -  (90)  (420) 

Reversal on revaluation 13 (206) - -  -  -  (206) 

At 31 December 2019 - - 15,847  214  1,425  17,486 

          

Net carrying amount          

At 31 December 2019 10,345 721 3,809  26  1,741 
 

16,642 

        
 

 

At 31 December 2018 10,313 135 3,940  72  2,653  17,113 
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4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

The net book value of the revalued building had the asset been carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation is as follows: 

 

   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      

Building   6,067  6,223 

 
The Company has carried out a valuation on the freehold property based on the income method 
conducted by an independent qualified valuer, Sr Thong Soo Fun, MRISM, MPEPS, Senior General 
Manager, Registered Valuer (V561) of Rahim & Co International Sdn Bhd (201501001265 (1126597-X)). 
The valuation of the freehold property was adopted for the financial year ended 31 December 2019. The 
recognised revalued amount was based on the valuation exercise performed as at 31 December 2019. 
 
Under the income method, the market value of the property is determined based on the net annual 
income which is derived by deducting the annual outgoings from the gross annual income and 
capitalising the net income by a suitable rate of return consistent with the type and quality of the 
investment. 
 
Fair value hierarchy 
 
A level is assigned to each fair value measurement based on the lowest level input significant to the fair 
value measurement in its entirety. The three-level hierarchy is defined as follows:- 
 
Level 1 - Fair value is derived from unadjusted quoted price in active markets for identical 

properties that the entity can access at the measurement date. 

Level 2 - Fair value is estimated using inputs that are observable for the properties, either 
directly or indirectly. 
 

Level 3 - Fair value is estimated using unobservable inputs for the properties. 

The fair value of the freehold property is classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair 
value of the property is as follows: 
 
   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 

      
Fair value as stated in valuation report   10,345  10,313  

 
The reconciliation from beginning to ending balances for the freehold property is as disclosed on page 65 
and page 66. 
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4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

Description of valuation techniques used and significant unobservable inputs to valuation of the freehold 
property are as set out below: 
 
 Valuation 

technique Significant unobservable inputs Range 

    
2019    
Freehold Income Term period’s net yield  5.75% 
property method Reversionary period’s net yield 6.00% 
  Void factor 5.00% 
  Average rental for term period RM4.50 – RM4.82 psf 
  Average rental for reversionary period RM4.50 psf 
  Outgoings for term period RM1.70 psf 
  Outgoings for reversionary period RM1.70 psf 
    
2018    
Freehold Income Term period’s net yield  6.00% 
property method Reversionary period’s net yield 6.25% 
  Void factor 5.00% 
  Average rental for term period RM4.40 - RM5.11 psf 
  Average rental for reversionary period RM4.50 psf 
  Outgoings for term period RM1.60 psf 
  Outgoings for reversionary period RM1.60 psf 
    

A significant increase or decrease in each of the unobservable inputs used in the valuation would result 
in a correspondingly higher or lower fair value of the freehold property. 

 
 
5. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 
 

 Note  2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      

At 1 January   51,105  51,486 
Fair value gain/(loss) 23  185  (381) 

At 31 December  51,290  51,105 

      
Represented by:      
Freehold property   51,290  51,105 

      
The following are amounts arising from investment property that have been recognised in the profit or 
loss during the financial year: 
 
   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      

Rental income (note 21)   1,805  3,077 
Direct operating expenses arising from investment property 

that generate rental income 
  

(2,103)  (1,590) 
Direct operating expenses arising from investment property 

that did not generate rental income 
  

(322)  (322) 
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5. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (CONTINUED) 
 

The Company has carried out a valuation on the investment property based on the income method 
conducted by an independent qualified valuer, Sr Thong Soo Fun, MRISM, MPEPS, Senior General 
Manager, Registered Valuer (V561) of Rahim & Co International Sdn Bhd (201501001265 (1126597-X)). 
The valuation of the investment property was adopted for the financial year ended 31 December 2019. 
The recognised revalued amount was based on the valuation exercise performed as at 31 December 
2019. 
 
The fair value of the investment property is categorised under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy and the 
description of valuation techniques used and significant unobservable inputs to valuation of the 
investment property are as set out below: 

 
 Valuation 

technique Significant unobservable inputs Range 

    
2019    
Investment Income Term period’s net yield  5.75% 
property method Reversionary period’s net yield 6.00% 
  Void factor 5.00% 
  Average rental for term period RM4.50 – RM4.82 psf 
  Average rental for reversionary period RM4.50 psf 
   Outgoings for term period RM1.70 psf 
  Outgoings for reversionary period RM1.70 psf 
    
2018    
Investment Income Term period’s net yield  6.00% 
property method Reversionary period’s net yield 6.25% 
  Void factor 5.00% 
  Average rental for term period RM4.40 - RM5.11 psf 
  Average rental for reversionary period RM4.50 psf 
   Outgoings for term period RM1.60 psf 
  Outgoings for reversionary period RM1.60 psf 
    

A significant increase or decrease in each of the unobservable inputs used in the valuation would result 
in a correspondingly higher or lower fair value of the investment property.  
 
The reconciliation from beginning to ending balances for investment property is as disclosed on page 68. 
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

      Computer    

  Exclusive  Computer  software   Distribution   

 Note right  software  in progress  agreement  Total 

  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Cost         

At 1 January 2018  40,000  6,704  795  -  47,499 

Additions  -  9  811  -  820 

Transfer from property and equipment 4 -  3  -  -  3 

Transfer from holding company 32 -  155  -  -  155 

At 31 December 2018/1 January 2019  40,000  6,871  1,606  -  48,477 

Additions  -  519  892  28,739  30,150 

Transfer to computer software  -  22  (22)  -  - 

At 31 December 2019  40,000  7,412  2,476  28,739  78,627 

           
Accumulated amortisation           

At 1 January 2018  21,590  2,748  -  -  24,338 

Amortisation during the financial year 25 3,212  1,104  -  -  4,316 

At 31 December 2018/1 January 2019  24,802  3,852  -  -  28,654 

Amortisation during the financial year 25 5,249  1,165  -  20  6,434 

At 31 December 2019  30,051  5,017  -  20  35,088 

           

Net carrying amount           

At 31 December 2019  9,949  2,395  2,476  28,719  43,539 

           

At 31 December 2018  15,198  3,019  1,606  -  19,823 

 
The Exclusive right is a definite life intangible asset and relates to a 10-year exclusive bancassurance agreement entered into between the Company 
and Alliance Bank Malaysia Berhad (“ABMB”) on 13 June 2013. The Exclusive right is amortised in accordance with note 2(c)(i). 
 
The distribution agreement relates to a 20-year distribution right entered into between the Company and an agency leadership corporation on 23 
September 2019 and is amortised in accordance with note 2(c)(iii). The distribution right is partially paid at the end of the financial year. The 
remaining amount payable under the distribution agreement over the contract term is as disclosed in note 19(ii). 
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7. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES 
 

   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
     

Loans receivable:     
Policy loans  148,872  152,365 
Mortgage loans  1,365  1,598 
Staff loans  486  780 

  150,723  154,743 
Allowance for impairment loss  (283)  (135) 

 (i)  150,440  154,608 
     

Fixed and call deposits with licensed banks     
  in Malaysia  51,402  84,306 
Accrued interest  6  115 

 (ii)  51,408  84,421 
     

Other receivables:     
Amount due from related companies (note 32) (iii)  2,205  2,502 
Accrued dividend income   948  1,452 
Accrued rental income  13  274 
Deposits  843  673 
Other debtors  16,854  25,208 

  20,863  30,109 
Allowance for impairment loss  (290)  (290) 

 (iv)  20,573  29,819 
     

Prepayments (v)  7,736  3,172 
     

Total  230,157  272,020 
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7. LOANS AND RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 
 

   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 

(i) Loans receivable:     
 Receivable within 12 months  474  691 
 Receivable after 12 months  149,966  153,917 

   150,440  154,608 
      

(ii) Fixed and call deposits with licensed banks in Malaysia:     
 Receivable within 12 months  51,408  84,421 
 Receivable after 12 months  -  - 

   51,408  84,421 
      

(iii) The amounts due from immediate holding company/related companies are unsecured, trade 
related, interest free and repayable on demand. 

      

(iv) Other receivables:     
 Receivable within 12 months  20,573  29,429 
 Receivable after 12 months  -  390 

   20,573  29,819 
      

(v) Prepayments:     
 Current  5,213  3,172 
 Non-current  2,523  - 
   7,736  3,172 
      

 The carrying amounts of other receivables and fixed and call deposits approximate fair values due to 
the relatively short term maturity of these balances. The carrying amount of loans receivable 
approximates fair value due to the insignificant impact of discounting. 

 
8. FINANCIAL ASSETS 
 

(a) Available-for-sale 
 

   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 

      

Equity securities      
  - Quoted in Malaysia   818,542  732,709 
  - Quoted outside Malaysia   96,806  109,339 
  - Unquoted in Malaysia   1,944  1,944 
Real estate investment trusts   15,398  8,431 
Unit trust fund*   75,362  69,367 
Unit trust funds - Investment in subsidiary*  (i) 479,929  120,981 
Malaysian Government Securities   328,298  309,926 
Government Investment Issues   203,367  133,622 
Corporate debt securities      
  - Unquoted   1,308,379  1,551,639 
Accrued interest   19,828  22,358 

   3,347,853  3,060,316 

 
Current   1,557,128  1,149,667 
Non-current   1,790,725  1,910,649 

   3,347,853  3,060,316 

 
* Being investment in unit trust funds managed by a related company. 
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8. FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 

(a) Available-for-sale (continued) 
 
(i) Investment in subsidiary – Unit trust funds  

 
   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 

      

At fair value:      
Available-for-sale   479,929  120,981 

 
Details of the Company’s investment in subsidiary – Unit trust funds in Malaysia are as 
follows: 
 

  % of ownership held 
by the Company 

Name of wholesale unit trust fund Principal activities 2019 2018 
   

Manulife Cash Management Fund Investment in money    
  market fund 

85.8 88.6 

Manulife Wholesale Corporate Bond 
Fund 

Investment in corporate 
  bonds 

86.3 - 

Manulife Wholesale Government 
Bond Fund 

Investment in sovereign 
  bonds 

86.3 - 

 
(b) Fair value through profit or loss – designated upon initial recognition 

 
   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 

      

Equity securities      
  - Quoted in Malaysia   580,616  493,196 
  - Quoted outside Malaysia   6,987  4,886 
Real estate investment trusts   8,314  5,786 
Unit trust funds*   167,215  124,739 
Malaysian Government Securities   48,314  34,398 
Government Investment Issues   25,298  23,388 
Corporate debt securities      
  - Unquoted   415,097  363,894 
Mutual funds      
  - Quoted outside Malaysia   438,118  496,354 
Forward foreign exchange contract (note 15)   3,802  3,958 
Accrued interest   5,548  4,967 

   1,699,309  1,555,566 

      
Current   1,307,198  1,221,884 
Non-current   392,111  333,682 

   1,699,309  1,555,566 

      
 * Being investment in unit trust funds managed by a related company. 
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8. FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 
 

(c) Carrying value of financial assets 
 

The financial assets and its movements are further analysed as follows:- 
 

    Fair value   

     through   

  Available-       profit   

   for-sale     or loss  Total  

    RM’000    RM’000  RM’000 

       

At 1 January 2018  3,154,566  1,534,670  4,689,236 

Purchases   2,267,904  841,092  3,108,996 

Maturities  (96,350)  (6,750)  (103,100) 

Disposals  (2,121,392)  (678,946)  (2,800,338) 

Fair value loss recorded in:       

  Profit or loss (note 23)  -  (147,612)  (147,612) 

  Other comprehensive income  (89,340)  -  (89,340) 
Allowance for impairment losses     
(note 23)  (53,552)  - 

 
(53,552) 

Net amortisation of premiums         
(note 21)  (2,379)  (432) 

 
(2,811) 

Unrealised exchange gains  -  11,989  11,989 

Movement in accrued interest  859  1,555  2,414 

At 31 December 2018/1 January 2019  3,060,316  1,555,566  4,615,882 

Purchases   2,560,062  937,338  3,497,400 

Maturities  (58,850)  (6,000)  (64,850) 

Disposals  (2,290,562)  (892,123)  (3,182,685) 

Fair value loss recorded in:       

  Profit or loss (note 23)  -  111,471  111,471 

  Other comprehensive income  104,567  -  104,567 
Allowance for impairment losses  
(note 23)  (21,975)  - 

 
(21,975) 

Net amortisation of premiums  
(note 21)  (3,175)  (852) 

 
(4,027) 

Unrealised exchange loss  -  (6,672)  (6,672) 

Movement in accrued interest  (2,530)  581  (1,949) 

At 31 December 2019  3,347,853  1,699,309  5,047,162 
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9. REINSURANCE ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) 
  

   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
     

Reinsurance assets on:     
     
- Insurance contract liabilities   - 2,290 
- Insurance claims liabilities   3,403 7,218 

   3,403 9,508 

     
Reinsurance liabilities on:     
     
- Insurance contract liabilities   (5,412) - 
     

 
10. INSURANCE RECEIVABLES 
 

   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      

Due premiums including agents’ balances   16,733  18,533 
Due from reinsurers   9,968  6,874 

   26,701  25,407 
Allowance for impairment loss   (907)  (1,063) 

   25,794  24,344 

      
Receivable within 12 months   25,794  24,344 

      
The carrying amounts disclosed above approximate fair values as at the end of the financial year due to 
their short term maturity. 

 
Amount due from reinsurers that have been offset against amount due to reinsurers are as follows: 

  
  Gross  Gross  Net 
  carrying 

 amount 
 amount 

offset 
 amount 

reported 
  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
       

31 December 2019       
Commissions receivables  19,496  -  19,496 
Claims recoveries  6,657  -  6,657 
Premiums ceded  -  (16,185)  (16,185) 

  26,153  (16,185)  9,968 

       
31 December 2018       
Commissions receivables  15,206  -  15,206 
Claims recoveries  3,296  -  3,296 
Premiums ceded  -  (11,628)  (11,628) 

  18,502  (11,628)  6,874 
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11. SHARE CAPITAL 
 

 2019  2018 

 
Number of 

shares  
Nominal 

value  
Number of 

shares  
Nominal 

Value 

 ‘000  RM’000  ‘000  RM’000 
        

Issued and fully paid up:        
Ordinary shares:        
At 1 January 300,000  150,000  300,000  150,000 
Issued for cash 50,000  50,000  -  - 

At 31 December 350,000  200,000  300,000  150,000 

        
During the financial year, the Company increased its share capital from RM150,000,003 to 
RM200,000,003 via creation and subsequent allotment of 50,000,000 ordinary shares of RM1.00 each, 
fully paid in cash by the shareholder of the Company. The new ordinary shares allotted ranked pari 
passu with all shares in existence at the date of allotment. 

 
12. RESERVES 
 

   2019  2018 
 Note  RM’000  RM’000 
     
Non-distributable:     
Fair value reserve, held by:        
  Non-participating life fund   9,906  4,339 
  Shareholder’s fund   2,857  1,844 

 (i)  12,763  6,183 

Non-distributable:      
Retained earnings (ii)  68,652  68,652 
      
Distributable:      
Retained earnings (iii)  259,204  246,085 

   327,856  314,737 

 
(i) Fair value reserve is in respect of fair value gains or losses on available-for-sale financial assets, 

net of deferred tax. 
 
(ii) Non-distributable retained earnings are surplus arising from Non-participating life fund, net of 

deferred tax. These amounts are only distributable upon actual recommended transfer from the 
Non-participating (including Investment-linked operating fund) life fund to the Shareholder’s fund 
by the Appointed Actuary. 

 
(iii) Under the single tier system, the Company is able to frank the payment of dividends out of its 

entire distributable retained earnings as at the date of the statement of financial position, subject to 
the approval by Bank Negara Malaysia under section 51 of the Financial Services Act 2013. 
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13. INSURANCE CONTRACT LIABILITIES 
 

  Gross  Net 
  2019  2018  2019  2018 
  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
         

Actuarial liabilities  2,728,546  2,494,888  2,733,958  2,492,598 
Unallocated (deficit)/surplus  (71,285)  35,699  (71,285)  35,699 
Fair value reserve  120,438  30,840  120,438  30,840 
Asset revaluation reserve  1,887  1,649  1,887  1,649 
Investment-linked  
  policyholders’ account  1,345,740  1,301,629  1,345,740  1,301,629 

  4,125,326  3,864,705  4,130,738  3,862,415 

         
Current  1,380,174  1,426,886  1,381,410  1,426,969 
Non-current  2,745,152  2,437,819  2,749,328  2,435,446 

  4,125,326  3,864,705  4,130,738  3,862,415 
 

The insurance contract liabilities and movements in its key components are further analysed as follows: 
 

 Gross  Net 
 2019  2018  2019  2018 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
        

At 1 January 3,864,705  3,948,040  3,862,415  3,946,768 
Inforce reserve movement 75,995  98,261  81,601  97,800 
New business reserve  28,552  26,587  30,648  26,030 
Discount rate and other changes 129,111  (32,846)  129,111  (32,846) 
Unallocated (deficit)/surplus (106,984)  (4,904)  (106,984)  (4,904) 
Fair value reserve, net of tax 89,598  (77,944)  89,598  (77,944) 
Asset revaluation reserve        

- Revaluation adjustment (note 4) 32  (38)  32  (38)
- Reversal of accumulated 

depreciation on revaluation (note 4) 206  207  206  207 

 238  169  238  169 
Investment-linked  
  policyholders’ account 44,111  (92,658)  44,111  (92,658) 

At 31 December 4,125,326  3,864,705  4,130,738  3,862,415 
 

As the Non-participating life fund’s unallocated surplus and fair value reserve are classified as equity, only 
the associated Participating life fund’s unallocated surplus and fair value reserve are included in the above 
presentation. 
 
For the current year ended 31 December 2019, the applicable estimate changes on the assumption 
resulted in higher actuarial liabilities of RM129.1 million (2018: lower actuarial liabilities of RM32.8 million), 
with a corresponding decrease in unallocated surplus for the participating business of RM102.7 million 
(2018: increase in unallocated surplus of RM39.2 million) and decrease in net profit before tax of RM26.4 
million (2018: decrease in net profit before tax of RM6.4 million). 
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14. INSURANCE CLAIMS LIABILITIES 
 
  Gross  Net 
  2019  2018  2019  2018 
  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
        

Provision for outstanding claims  53,464  55,014  50,061  47,796 

         
Current  53,464  55,014  50,061  47,796 

 
15. FINANCIAL ASSET/(LIABILITY) AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 

 
Derivatives  
 
The table below shows the fair value of derivative financial instruments, recorded as asset or liability, 
together with their notional amounts. The notional amount, recorded gross, is the amount of the 
derivative’s underlying asset and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are 
measured. Derivative financial instruments are recognised as financial asset or financial liability in 
accordance with the policy described in note 2(e)(i)(1) and note 2(g). 
 
    Fair value gain/(loss) 

recognised as 
  

  Notional 
 amount 

 Financial 
asset 

 Financial 
liability 

 Net 
carrying 
amount 

  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
         
31 December 2019         
Hedging derivative:         
Forward foreign exchange contract  

(note 8(b)) 
- Less than 1 year 

 

322,819  3,802  -  3,802 

         
31 December 2018         
Hedging derivative:         
Forward foreign exchange contract 

(note 8(b)) 
- Less than 1 year 

 
 

362,429  
 

3,958  
 

-  
 

3,958 
- Less than 1 year   9,193  -  (116)  (116) 

         
16. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 
 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to the same tax authority.  

 
   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      
Deferred tax liabilities   34,615  16,879 

      
Current   20,164  (3,960) 
Non-current   14,451  20,839 

   34,615  16,879 
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16. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 
 

The components and movements of deferred tax liabilities/(assets) during the financial year are as follows: 

           

   Revaluation-        

 Unallocated  investment  Accelerated  Revaluation-    

 surplus  property  depreciation  investments  Others  Total 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

            

At 1 January 2018 21,786  195  224  14,250  (29)  36,426 

            

Recognised in:            

Profit or loss:            

  - Other operating (income)/expenses (note 27) -  (30)  32  (12,438)  19  (12,417) 

  - Taxation (note 28) (106)  -  -  (295)  -  (401) 

Other comprehensive income            

  - Fair value reserve -  -  -  (6,729)  -  (6,729) 

At 31 December 2018/1 January 2019 21,680  165  256  (5,212)  (10)  16,879 

            

Recognised in:            

Profit or loss:            

  - Other operating expenses (note 27) -  14  157  9,127  -  9,298 

  - Taxation (note 28) -  -  -  49  -  49 

Other comprehensive loss            

  - Fair value reserve -  -  -  8,389  -  8,389 

At 31 December 2019 21,680  179  413  12,353  (10)  34,615 
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17. INSURANCE PAYABLES 
 

   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      

Due to reinsurers   2,731  3,749 
Due to agents   3,342  3,923 
Due to insureds   594,950  550,285 

   601,023  557,957 
      

Current   601,023  557,957 

      

The carrying amounts disclosed above approximate fair values as at the end of the financial year due to 
their short-term maturity. 

 
Amount due to reinsurers that have been offset against amount due from reinsurers are as follows: 

  
  Gross  Gross  Net 
  carrying 

 amount 
 amount 

offset 
 amount 

reported 
  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
       

31 December 2019       
Premiums ceded  6,463  -  6,463 
Commissions receivables  -  (511)  (511) 
Claims recoveries  -  (3,221)  (3,221) 

  6,463  (3,732)  2,731 

       
31 December 2018       
Premiums ceded  4,612  -  4,612 
Commissions receivables  -  (117)  (117) 
Claims recoveries  -  (746)  (746) 

  4,612  (863)  3,749 
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18. LEASES 
 

(a) Right-of-use assets 
 

 Note 
Office 
Rental  Total 

  RM’000  RM’000 
Cost    
At 1 January 2019  -  - 
Effect of adoption of MFRS 16  705  705 

At 1 January 2019 (restated)  705  705 
Additions  1,977  1,977 

At 31 December 2019  2,682  2,682 
 

Accumulated depreciation    
At 1 January 2019  -  - 
Charge for the year 25 823  823 

At 31 December 2019  823  823 
 

Net book value    
At 31 December 2019  1,859  1,859 

 
This note provides information for leases where the Company is a lessee. 
 
The Company has entered into operating lease agreements for office rental. These non-
cancellable leases have remaining non-cancellable lease terms of between 1 and 3 years.  
 
The Company also has certain leases of office equipment with lease terms of 12 months or less 
and leases with low value. The Company applies the 'short-term lease' and 'lease of low-value 
assets' recognition exemptions for these leases. 
 
The following are the amounts recognised in profit or loss: 

 
 2019  2018 
 RM’000  RM’000 
    
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets (note 25) 823  - 
Interest expense on lease liabilities (note 25) 38  - 
Expense related to short-term leases (note 25) 2,009  - 
Expense related to leases of low-value assets (note 25) 85  - 

Total amount recognised in profit or loss  2,955  - 

 
The total cash outflow for leases in 2019 was RM2,828,000. 
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18. LEASES (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Lease liabilities 
 

 

Lease 
Liabilities: 

Office 
Rental  Total 

 RM’000  RM’000 
Lease liabilities    
At 1 January 2019 -  - 
Effect of adoption of MFRS 16 716  716 

At 1 January 2019 (restated) 716  716 
Increase 1,979  1,979 
Payment of lease liabilities (734)  (734) 
Interest expense on lease liabilities (note 25) 38  38 

At 31 December 2019 1,999  1,999 

Of which are:    
   Current lease liabilities   999 
   Non-current lease liabilities   1,000 

   1,999 

 
19.      OTHER PAYABLES 
 

   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      
Other creditors   36,064  55,644 
Accrued liabilities   58,070  42,823 
Amount due to related companies (note 32)  (i) 407  39 
Amount due to immediate holding company (note 32)  (i) 5,907  5,193 
Amount payable under Distribution Agreement   (ii) 27,093  - 

   127,541  103,699 

      
Current   106,165  103,699 
Non-current   21,376  - 

   127,541  103,699 

      
(i) The amounts due to immediate holding company and related companies are unsecured, trade 

related, interest free and repayable on demand. The carrying amounts disclosed above 
approximate fair values as at the end of the financial year due to their short-term maturity. All 
amounts are payable within one year. 
 

(ii) The amount payable under the Distribution Agreement relates to the remaining unpaid distribution 
right as disclosed in note 6 and is the expected present value of estimated future cash outflows of 
amount payable under the agreement, discounted using the discount rate that reflects the current 
market assessment of the time value of money.  

 
 
 



Company No. 

200801013654 (814942-M) 

 
MANULIFE INSURANCE BERHAD  
(Incorporated in Malaysia) 
 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - 31 DECEMBER 2019 (CONTINUED) 
 
 

83 

20. NET PREMIUMS 
 

   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      

First year premium   147,240  108,493 
Renewal year premium   599,832  600,764 
Single premium   77,283  145,259 

   824,355  854,516 

 
21. INVESTMENT INCOME 
 

   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      
Financial assets at FVTPL - designated upon initial  
  recognition 

  
   

Interest/profit sharing income   21,925  15,602 
Dividend income      
- equity securities      

- quoted in Malaysia   18,057  15,633 
- quoted outside Malaysia   108  253 

- real estate investment trusts   1,542  271 
- unit trust funds   5,371  3,846 
- mutual funds - outside Malaysia   3,561  5,791 
Net amortisation of premiums (note 8(c))   (852)  (432) 
      
AFS financial assets      
Interest income   95,561  96,260 
Dividend income       
- equity securities      

- quoted in Malaysia   24,772  24,908 
- quoted outside Malaysia   2,424  1,902 
- unquoted in Malaysia   908  194 

- real estate investment trusts   937  262 
- unit trust funds   6,179  6,534 
Net amortisation of premiums (note 8(c))   (3,175)  (2,379) 
      
Loans and receivables      
Interest/profit sharing income   11,927  13,634 
      
Investment property      
Rental income (note 5)   1,805  3,077 
      
Cash and cash equivalents      
Interest/profit sharing income   606  785 

   191,656  186,141 
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22. NET REALISED GAINS 
 

   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      

Property and equipment      
Gain on disposal of property and equipment   18  4 

      
AFS financial assets      
Realised gains:      
Equity securities - quoted in Malaysia   9,650  33,541 
Equity securities - quoted outside Malaysia   -  155 
Real estate investment trusts   848  106 
Unit trust funds   52  249 
Debt securities   32,212  2,271 
      
Realised losses:      
Equity securities - quoted in Malaysia    (189)  - 
Debt securities   -  (21) 
      

Total net realised gains for AFS financial assets   42,573  36,301 

      
Total net realised gains   42,591  36,305 
      

 
23. NET FAIR VALUE GAINS/(LOSSES) 
 

   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      

Investment property      
Unrealised fair value gain/(loss) (note 5)   185  (381) 

      
Financial assets at FVTPL  
- designated upon initial recognition       
      
Fair value gains      
Realised    10,581  1,719 
Unrealised (note 8(c))   111,513  689 
      
Fair value losses      
Realised    (19,570)  (11,590) 
Unrealised (note 8(c))   (42)  (148,301) 

      
Net fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets       
  FVTPL - designated upon initial recognition   102,482  (157,483) 

      
AFS financial assets      
Impairment losses on quoted equities (note 8(c))   (21,975)  (53,552) 

      
Total net fair value gain/(loss)   80,692  (211,416) 

      

 
24. FEE INCOME 

 
 Fee income comprises outsourcing fee income earned from related companies. 
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25. MANAGEMENT EXPENSES 

 
   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      
Staff costs (note 25(a))   62,326  54,106 
      
Directors' remuneration: (note 25(b))      
  - Fees   366  247 
  - Other emoluments   2,402  4,880 
Auditors' remuneration:      
  - Statutory audit   423  423 
  - Audit related services   37  114 
Office rental paid and payable to:      
  - Immediate holding company (note 32)   -  1,282 
  - Others   -  891 
Depreciation of property and equipment (note 4)   1,655  1,726 
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 18)   823  - 
Interest expense on lease liabilities (note 18)   38  - 
Expense relating to short-term leases (note 18)      
  - Immediate holding company (note 32)   1,604  - 
  - Others   405  - 
Expense relating to leases of low-value assets (note 18)   85  - 
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 6)   6,434  4,316 
Property and equipment written off (note 4)   657  - 
Allowance for/(reversal of) impairment loss on loans 

receivable   148  (231) 
Allowance for/(reversal of) impairment loss on insurance 

receivables   4  (2) 
Bancassurance service fee   3,000  3,000 
Credit card charges   3,190  3,282 
Fund management expenses   7,037  6,204 
Goods and services tax   70  1,789 
Information technology outsourcing expenses   8,160  6,894 
Interest expense under Distribution Agreement   1,176  - 
Marketing and advertising expenses   5,177  3,425 
Bancassurance incentives and allowances   11,442  5,689 
Printing and stationery expenses   1,560  1,066 
Postage and courier charges   1,043  880 
Professional fee   3,023  1,801 
Provision of finance support (note 32)   191  192 
Provision of HR support (note 32)   661  663 
Outsourcing fees   3,435  3,037 
Software maintenance expenses   6,802  4,375 
Training expenses   1,325  742 
Travelling and entertainment expenses   2,691  1,786 
Utilities and office maintenance expenses   2,552  1,835 
Other expenses   3,434  2,233 

   143,376  116,645 
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25. MANAGEMENT EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 

 
(a) Staff costs 

      
   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      

Staff costs   49,317  41,739 
Retirement benefits contributions  (i) 7,134  5,022 
Share-based payments  (ii) 540  370 
Other staff-related expenses   5,335  6,975 

Total staff costs   62,326  54,106 

      
(i) The retirement benefits contributions of the Company were made to the defined contribution 

plan as mentioned in note 2(k)(ii) to the financial statements. 
 

(ii) Share-based payments incurred during the financial year relates to the share-based 
compensation granted to employees as mentioned in note 2(k)(iii)(ii) to the financial statements. 
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25. MANAGEMENT EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Directors' remuneration 
 

The aggregate amounts of emoluments received by directors of the Company during the financial 
year are detailed as follows:- 

 
 Non-deferred  Deferred  Total 

 2019        2018    2019   2018  2019  2018 

 
RM’000 

 
RM'000  RM'000  RM'000  RM'000  RM'000 

Chief Executive Officers 
(“CEO”)   

 
 

 
 

  
 

 

           

Lee Sang Hui           

Fixed remuneration           

•  Salaries 
           

1,564  231  -  -  1,564  231 
•  Contribution to defined  
   contribution plan 

            
163  

 
28  -  

 
-  163  

 
28 

•  Benefits in kind 64  4  -  -  64  4 

 1,791  263  -  -  1,791  263 

            

Variable Remuneration            

•  Bonus 205        -  -  -  205  - 

•  Others 406  417  -  -  406  417 

 611  417  -  -  611  417 

            

Mark Steven O’Dell            

Fixed remuneration  
  

 
 

 
 

  
 

 

•  Salaries         -    1,741  -  -  -  1,741 
•  Contribution to defined 

contribution plan         - 
 

      80  -  
 

-  -  

 
80 

•  Benefits in kind         -     267  -  -  -  267 

•  Tax equalisation **         -  1,859  -  -  -  1,859 

         -   3,947  -  -  -  3,947 
            

Variable Remuneration  
 

      
 

 

•  RSU expenses         -       -  -  86  -  86 

•  Others         -     167  -  -  -  167 

         -    167  -  86  -  253 
  

          

Total for CEOs       2,402   4,794  -  86  2,402  4,880 
            

Other Executive director:            

•  Fees         -       33  -  -  -  33 
            

Non-Executive directors:         

Fixed remuneration           

•  Fees         366     214  -  -  366  214 

      2,768  5,041  -  86  2,768  5,127 
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25. MANAGEMENT EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Directors' remuneration (continued) 
 

   2019  2018 

   RM'000  RM'000 

Represented by:      

Directors' fees    366  247 

      

Director's emoluments   2,338  2,750 

Benefits in kind   64  271 

Tax equalisation**   -  1,859 

   2,402  4,880 

   2,768  5,127 

 
**In 2018, the tax equalisation refers to the tax incurred by the Company on behalf of the previous 

CEO who was on international assignment so as to allow him a tax neutral position for working 
in Malaysia. 

 
The number of executive and non-executive directors whose total remuneration received during 
the financial year fall within the following bands are analysed as below: 
 

   Number of directors 

   2019  2018 

      

Chief Executive Officers (“CEO”)/Executive directors       

RM4,000,000-RM4,500,000   -  1 

RM2,000,000-RM2,500,000   1  - 

RM500,000-RM1,000,000   -  1 

      

Other Executive director      

Below RM50,000   -  1 

      

Non-Executive directors:      

Below RM50,000   -  1 

Above RM50,000   4  3 
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25. MANAGEMENT EXPENSES (CONTINUED) 
 
(c) Directors’ fees (non-deferred fixed remuneration) received by the directors during the 

financial year are as follows: 
 

  2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 

      

Executive director      
Leung Rockson Lok-Shuen*   -  33 
      
Non-Executive directors:      
Dato’ Md Agil bin Mohd Natt   103  88 
Datuk Seri Panglima Mohd Annuar Bin Zaini   94  55 
Lim Hun Soon @ David Lim   97  57 
Vijayam A/P Nadarajah (Appointed on 19 April 2019)   72  - 
Dr. Gopakumar Kurup*   -  14 
   366  214 
      

   366  247 

 
*  Leung Rockson Lok-Shuen and Dr. Gopakumar Kurup have resigned as Executive Director and 

Non-Executive Director on 31 October 2019 and 31 March 2019 respectively. 
 
26. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION 
 

Expenses arising from the share-based payment transactions recognised during the financial year as 
part of the employee benefit expense were as follows: 
 

   2019  2018 

   RM’000  RM’000 

      

RSU expenses   540  456 

   540  456 

      

Restricted share units (“RSU”) are granted to certain employees of MFC Group as part of the annual 
performance reward cycle and has a vesting period of over 35 months from grant date. Each RSU 
entitles the recipient to receive payment equal to the market value of one common share, plus credited 
dividends, at the time of vesting, subject to any performance conditions. These RSU expenses are paid 
out in cash at the end of the vesting period. 
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27. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES/(INCOME) 
 

   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      

Foreign exchange      
  - Realised (gain)/loss   (5,589)  3,921 
  - Unrealised loss/(gain)   6,568  (11,948) 
Interest on agent’s bond withheld   15  16 
Others   7,996  5,278 
Tax expense on investment income of Life fund  
  and Investment-linked funds: 

  
 

 
 

  - Current tax   11,917  12,919 
  - Deferred tax (note 16)   9,298  (12,417) 

   21,215  502 

   30,205  (2,231) 

 
The income tax for the Life fund and Investment-linked funds of the insurance business is calculated 
based on the tax rate of 8% (2018: 8%) of the assessable investment income, net of allowable 
deductions for the financial year. 

 
28. TAXATION 
 
   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      

Current tax      
Current financial year   9,828  11,063 
Over provision in prior financial years   (689)  (115) 

   9,139  10,948 
      
Deferred tax      
Current financial year (note 16)   49  (401) 

      
   9,188  10,547 

 
The current income tax for the Company is calculated based on the tax rate of 24% (2018: 24%) of the 
estimated assessable profit for the financial year.  
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 28. TAXATION (CONTINUED) 
 
A reconciliation of income tax expense applicable to profit before taxation at the statutory income tax rate 
to income tax expense at the effective income tax rate of the Company is as below: 
 

   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      

Profit before taxation   22,318  38,944 

      
Taxation at Malaysia statutory tax rate of 24%  
 (2018: 24%) 

  
5,356 

 
9,347 

Section 110B tax credit set off   (971)  (2,071) 
Income not subject to tax   (74)  (474) 
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes   5,566  3,860 

   9,877  10,662 
Over provision in prior financial years   (689)  (115) 

Tax expense   9,188  10,547 

 
29. BASIC AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

Basic earnings per share of the Company is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary 
equity holder of the Company for the financial year over the number of ordinary shares in issue during 
the financial year. 
 

   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      

Profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holder 
(RM’000) 

  
13,130 

 
28,397 

      
Number of shares in issue (‘000)   350,000  300,000 
      
Basic earnings per share (sen)   3.75  9.47 

 
The Company has no potential dilutive ordinary shares in issue as at the date of the statement of 
financial position and therefore, diluted earnings per share have not been presented. 
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30. DIVIDEND PAID 
 

        2019    2018 

 

Net 
dividend 

per share  
Amount of 

dividend  

Net 
dividend 

per share  
Amount of 

dividend 
 Sen  RM’000  Sen  RM’000 

        
Single tier dividend        
  - First and final dividend -  -  33.3  100,000 
        

  -  -  33.3  100,000 
        

 
No dividend is recommended for the financial year ended 31 December 2019. 
 

31. ADJUSTMENTS FOR NON-CASH ITEMS 
 

Non-cash items in the statement of cash flows comprise of: 
 
   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      

Interest income   (130,019)  (126,281) 
Dividend income   (63,859)  (59,594) 
Rental income    (1,805)  (3,077) 
Net amortisation of premiums   4,027  2,811 
Gains on disposal of AFS financial assets   (42,573)  (36,301) 
Fair value (gain)/loss on investment property   (185)  381 
Fair value (gain)/loss on FVTPL financial assets   (102,482)  157,483 
Impairment losses on AFS financial assets   21,975  53,552 
Depreciation of property and equipment   1,655  1,726 
Gain on disposal of property and equipments   (18)  (4) 
Property and equipment written off   657  - 
Amortisation of intangible assets   6,434  4,316 
Depreciation of right-of-use assets   823  - 
Allowance for/(reversal of) impairment loss on  
  insurance receivables 

  
4 

  
(2) 

Allowance for/(reversal of) impairment loss on loans 
receivable 

  
148 

  
(231) 

Tax on investment income of Life fund and 
  Investment-linked funds 

  
21,215 

  
502 

Taxation   9,188  10,547 
Realised foreign exchange (gain)/loss   (5,589)  3,921 
Unrealised foreign exchange loss/(gain)   6,568  (11,948) 

   (273,836)  (2,199) 
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32. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 
 

Identity of related parties 
 

For the purposes of these financial statements, parties are considered to be related to the Company if 
the Company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the party or exercise significant influence 
over the party in making financial and operating decisions, or vice versa, or where the Company and the 
party are subject to common control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals 
or other entities. 
 
The Company has related party relationships with its holding companies and subsidiaries of holding 
companies. The related parties of, and their relationship with the Company are as follows: 
 
 
Name of company 

Country of 
incorporation 

 
Relationship 

   
Manulife Financial Corporation (“MFC”) Canada Ultimate holding company 
Manulife Financial Asia Limited (“MFAL”) Hong Kong Intermediate holding company 
Manulife Holdings Berhad (“MHB”) Malaysia Immediate holding company 
Britama Properties Sdn Bhd Malaysia Subsidiary of Immediate 

holding company 
Manulife Investment Management (M) Berhad 
(formerly known as Manulife Asset 
Management Services Berhad) 

Malaysia Subsidiary of Immediate 
holding company 

Manulife Insurance Labuan Limited Malaysia Subsidiary of Immediate 
holding company 

Manulife Technology and Services Sdn Bhd         
(In liquidation) 

Malaysia Subsidiary of ultimate holding  
  company 

Manulife Investment Management (Hong Kong) 
Limited (formerly known as Manulife Asset 
Management (Hong Kong) Limited) 

Hong Kong Subsidiary of ultimate holding  
  company 

Manulife Data Services Inc. Philippines Subsidiary of ultimate holding  
  company 

  
In the normal course of business, the Company undertakes various transactions with other companies 
deemed related parties by virtue of being subsidiaries and associated companies of MFC, collectively 
known as the MFC Group. 
 
Related parties also include key management personnel. Key management personnel are defined as 
those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of 
the Company either directly or indirectly. Key management personnel of the Company include the 
directors and certain members of senior management of the Company. Total compensation paid to the 
Company’s directors are disclosed in note 25. 
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32. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 
 

Significant related party transactions 
 
Related party transactions have been entered into in the normal course of business under negotiated 
terms with the respective parties. The significant related party transactions during the financial year 
between the Company and its related parties are set out below: 

 
  2019  2018 
  RM’000  RM’000 
     
Expenses/(income)     
     
Intermediate holding company     
Reimbursement of personnel expenses  5,964  6,925 
Reimbursement of software maintenance expenses  2,874  2,385 
Reimbursement of director fee  -  33 
Reimbursement of consultation fee  -  13 
Reimbursement of overhead expense  (558)  (561) 
Reimbursement of meeting and conference  -  706 
Reimbursement of education and training expense  -  4 
Reimbursement of travelling and administrative expenses  8  29 
Reimbursement of computer software expenses  29  - 
Provision of IT infrastructure support  2,451  1,587 
Provision of finance support (note 25)  191  192 
Provision of HR support (note 25)  661  663 
Provision of staff claims system  31  - 

     
Subsidiaries of ultimate holding company     
Rental income   -  (91) 

     
Subsidiaries of the immediate holding company     
Outsourcing fee income  (2,829)  (3,268) 
Rental income  (692)  (677) 
Fund management expenses  11,143  10,639 
Management fees and maintenance charges  99  99 
Transfer of property and equipment, at net book value (note 4)  -  (139) 

     
Immediate holding company     
Outsourcing fee income  (968)  (1,130) 
Outsourcing fees  811  881 
Rental income  (101)  (107) 
Rental expenses (note 25)  1,604  1,282 
Transfer of property and equipment, at net book value (note 4)  -  1,063 
Transfer of intangible assets, at net book value (note 6)  -  155 
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32. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 
 

Significant related party transactions (continued) 
 
The related party transactions were ranked by countries and total in aggregate as below: 
 
  2019  2018 
Expenses  RM’000  RM’000 
     
Hong Kong  12,209  12,537  
Malaysia  13,657  14,119 
 
Key management personnel  

 
Total compensation paid to the Company’s key management personnel are as follows: 

 
  2019  2018 
  RM’000  RM’000 
     
Salaries, other short-term employee benefits and other 
directors’ emoluments  10,570  13,371 

Retirement benefits contribution (i) 665  1,058 
RSU expenses (ii) 540  456 

  11,775  14,885 

     
(i) The retirement benefits contributions were made to the defined contribution plan as mentioned in 

note 2(k)(ii) to the financial statements. 
 

(ii) The share-based payments incurred during the financial year relates to the share-based 
compensation granted to employees as mentioned in note 2(k)(iii)(ii) to the financial statements. 

 
Significant related party balances 
 
Related party balances outstanding for the Company which are included in the notes to the financial 
statements are as follows: 
 
   2019  2018 
   RM’000  RM’000 
      
Loans and receivables (note 7)      
  - Amount due from related companies   2,205  2,502 

   2,205  2,502 

      
Other payables (note 19)      
  - Amount due to related companies   407  39 
  - Amount due to immediate holding company   5,907  5,193 

   6,314  5,232 
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  
 

(a) Categories of financial instruments 
 

The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments categorised as follows: 
 
i) Available-for-sale (“AFS”); 
ii) Fair value through profit or loss – designated upon initial recognition (“FVTPL”); 
iii) Loans and receivables excluding prepayments (“LAR”); and 
iv) Other financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (“OL”). 

 
 AFS  FVTPL  LAR  OL  Total 
 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
          

31 December 2019          
Financial assets          

Loans and receivables -  -  222,421            -  222,421 
AFS financial assets 3,347,853  -  -              -  3,347,853 
Financial assets at FVTPL -  1,699,309  -  -  1,699,309 
Insurance receivables -  -  25,794  -  25,794 
Cash and cash equivalents -  -  61,927            -  61,927 

 3,347,853  1,699,309  310,142          -  5,357,304 

          
Financial liabilities          
Insurance payables -  -  -   601,023  601,023 
Other payables -  -  -   127,541  127,541 

 -  -  -   728,564  728,564 

          
31 December 2018          
Financial assets          
Loans and receivables -  -  268,848  -  268,848 
AFS financial assets 3,060,316  -  -  -  3,060,316 
Financial assets at FVTPL -  1,555,566  -  -  1,555,566 
Insurance receivables -  -  24,344  -  24,344 
Cash and cash equivalents -  -  54,237  -  54,237 

3,060,316  1,555,566  347,429  -  4,963,311 

         
Financial liabilities          
Financial liabilities at FVTPL -  116  -  -  116 
Insurance payables -  -  -  557,957  557,957 
Other payables -  -  -  103,699  103,699 

 -  116  -  661,656  661,772 
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 
  
(b) Determination of fair values 

 
The fair values of the Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows: 

 
(i) The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities, such as loans and 

receivables, insurance receivables, cash and cash equivalents, insurance payables and other 
payables (other than amount payable under Distribution Agreement) are reasonable 
approximations of their fair values due to the relatively short term maturity of these balances 
and the immaterial impact of discounting; 
 

(ii) The carrying amount of amount payable under Distribution Agreement discounted using the 
discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money, are 
reasonable approximations of their fair values; 

 
(iii) The fair values of quoted equities and investments in real estate investment trusts are based 

on quoted market prices as at the reporting date; 
 

(iv) The fair values of Malaysian Government Securities, Government Investment Issues and 
unquoted corporate debt securities are based on indicative market prices; 

 
(v) The fair values of negotiable instruments of deposit are calculated using the discounted cash 

flow method based on the maturity of the instruments at discount rates representing the 
average market rates quoted by at least two licensed banks; 

 
(vi) The fair values of mutual funds and unit trust funds are based on the net asset values of the 

underlying funds as at the reporting date; and 
 
(vii) The fair values of forward foreign exchange contracts are based on valuations provided by 

the financial institutions making reference to quoted market prices. 
 

(c) Fair value hierarchy 
 

The Company categorises its fair value measurements according to a three-level hierarchy. The 
hierarchy prioritises the inputs used by the Company’s valuation techniques for determining the 
fair value of the financial instruments. 

 
A level is assigned to each fair value measurement based on the lowest level input significant to 
the fair value measurement in its entirety. The three-level hierarchy is defined as follows: 
 
Level 1 –  Fair value measurements that reflect unadjusted, quoted prices in active markets for 

identical assets and liabilities that the Company has the ability to access at the 
measurement date. Valuations are based on quoted prices reflecting market 
transactions involving assets or liabilities identical to those being measured.  

 
Level 2 – Fair value measurements using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 

that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. These include 
quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for 
identical or similar assets and liabilities in inactive markets, inputs that are observable 
that are not prices (such as interest rates, credit risks, etc) and inputs that are derived 
from or corroborated by observable market data.  
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)  
 

(c) Fair value hierarchy (continued) 
 

Level 3 – Fair value measurements using significant non market observable inputs. These 
include valuations for assets and liabilities that are derived using data, some or all of 
which is not market observable, including assumptions about risk. 

 
In determining the fair value of its financial instruments, the Company uses observable market 
data, when available, and minimises the use of unobservable inputs to the extent possible when 
determining fair value. 

 
The following table presents the Company’s financial assets/liabilities that are carried at fair value 
as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018. 
 

  Carrying     
  amount  Level 1  Level 2 
  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
       
31 December 2019       
       
AFS financial assets       
Equity securities       
  - Quoted in Malaysia  818,542  818,542  - 
  - Quoted outside Malaysia  96,806  96,806  - 
Real estate investment trusts  15,398  15,398  - 
Unit trust funds  555,291  555,291  - 
Malaysian Government Securities  328,298  -  328,298 
Government Investment Issues  203,367  -  203,367 
Corporate debt securities       
  - Unquoted  1,308,379  -  1,308,379 
Accrued interest  19,828  -  19,828 

  3,345,909  1,486,037  1,859,872 

       
Financial assets at FVPTL       
Equity securities       
  - Quoted in Malaysia  580,616  580,616  - 
  - Quoted outside Malaysia  6,987  6,987  - 
Real estate investment trusts  8,314  8,314  - 
Unit trust funds  167,215  167,215  - 
Malaysian Government Securities  48,314  -  48,314 
Government Investment Issues  25,298  -  25,298 
Corporate debt securities       
  - Unquoted  415,097  -  415,097 
Mutual funds       
  - Quoted outside Malaysia  438,118  438,118  - 
Forward foreign exchange contract  3,802  -  3,802 
Accrued interest  5,548  -  5,548 

  1,699,309  1,201,250  498,059 

       
  5,045,218  2,687,287  2,357,931 
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)  
 

(c) Fair value hierarchy (continued) 
 

  Carrying     
  amount  Level 1  Level 2 
  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
       
31 December 2018       
       
AFS financial assets       
Equity securities       
  - Quoted in Malaysia  732,709  732,709  - 
  - Quoted outside Malaysia  109,339  109,339  - 
Real estate investment trusts  8,431  8,431  - 
Unit trust funds  190,348  190,348  - 
Malaysian Government Securities  309,926  -  309,926 
Government Investment Issues  133,622  -  133,622 
Corporate debt securities       
  - Unquoted  1,551,639  -  1,551,639 
Accrued interest  22,358  -  22,358 

  3,058,372  1,040,827  2,017,545 

       
Financial assets at FVPTL       
Equity securities       
  - Quoted in Malaysia  493,196  493,196  - 
  - Quoted outside Malaysia  4,886  4,886  - 
Real estate investment trusts  5,786  5,786  - 
Unit trust funds  124,739  124,739  - 
Malaysian Government Securities  34,398  -  34,398 
Government Investment Issues  23,388  -  23,388 
Corporate debt securities       
  - Unquoted  363,894  -  363,894 
Mutual funds       
  - Quoted outside Malaysia  496,354  496,354  - 
Forward foreign exchange contract  3,958  -  3,958 
Accrued interest  4,967  -  4,967 

  1,555,566  1,124,961  430,605 

       
  4,613,938  2,165,788  2,448,150 

       
Financial liabilities at FVPTL       
Forward foreign exchange contract  116  -  116 

       
Unquoted equity securities of RM1,944,444 (31 December 2018: RM1,944,444) of the Company 
as disclosed in note 8(a) are not disclosed in the fair value hierarchy above as they are measured 
at cost as fair value is not readily available. 
 
There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy during the current 
and previous financial years. 
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

(a) Risk management framework 
 

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the Company has oversight responsibility for risk 
management. Industry best practices and governance standards for financial institutions require 
the Board to establish risk management policies and practices and, in delegating this 
responsibility to management, to ensure that these policies and practices remain adequate, 
comprehensive and prudent in light of changing circumstances.  
 
The Board’s Risk Management Committee ("RMC"), is responsible for overseeing the Company’s 
management of its principal risks. The Board and RMC delegate accountability for risk taking and 
risk management to the Chief Executive Officer ("CEO"). The CEO, supported by the Chief Risk 
Officer (CRO) and Enterprise Risk Management Committee, established risk policies, guide risk-
taking activity, monitor material risk exposures, and develop strategic risk management priorities, 
thereby continuously shaping and promoting the risk management culture throughout the 
Company. 
 
Risk management policies and practices form an integral part of the Board and Senior 
Management’s oversight of risks and the Company’s financial position. Accordingly, along with 
capital management and financial management, risk management is one of the three pillars of the 
Company’s prudential framework. As such, the Company’s risk policies and practices must be 
directly aligned with the Company’s capital management and financial management frameworks. 
The amount of risk the Company assumes, and plans to assume, defines its required 
consolidated risk-based capital. Conversely, the amount of available capital defines the amount of 
risk it is prudent to assume. This relationship dictates the need for alignment between capital and 
risk management. 
 
The Company’s risk taking activities are undertaken with the understanding that risk taking and 
effective risk management are necessary and integral to achieving strategic objectives and 
managing business operations. 
 
The Company seeks to strategically optimise risk taking and risk management to support long 
term revenue and earnings growth, with the ultimate objective of increasing shareholder’s value. 
This is done by: 

• Capitalising on business opportunities that are aligned with the Company’s overall risk 
appetite and return expectations; 

 

• Identifying, measuring and assessing, and monitoring and reporting on principal risks under 
taken; and  

 

• Proactively executing effective risk controls and mitigation programs. 
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Regulatory framework 
 

The Company is required to comply with the Financial Services Act 2013 (Act 758) as well as 
guidelines and circulars issued by BNM.  
 

(c) Capital management 
 

The Capital Management Plan is developed and endorsed by the Board. The plan lays out the 
management actions in response to various Capital Adequacy Ratio (CAR) scenarios. The 
Company manages its capital with the following objectives: 
 

• To maintain the required level of stability of the Company, thereby providing a degree of 
security to policyholders; 

• To maintain financial strength to support new business growth and to satisfy the 
requirements of the policyholders, regulator and stakeholders; 

• To retain financial flexibility by maintaining strong liquidity and access to a range of capital 
markets; and  

• To maintain strong and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business objectives and 
maximise shareholder’s value. 

 
The Company’s internal target solvency range is above the minimum regulatory capital 
requirement outlined under Risk-Based Capital Framework (“the Framework”) prescribed by BNM 
at 130%.  
 
The Company has fully complied with its internal target solvency range during the reported 
financial years. 
 
The capital structure of the Company as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, as 
prescribed under the Framework are as follows: 
 

     2019  2018 

     RM’000  RM’000 

        

Eligible Tier 1 Capital        

Share capital (paid-up)     200,000  150,000 

Retained earnings of the Company*     259,204  246,085 

Eligible contract liabilities     442,974  587,546 

     902,178  983,631 

Eligible Tier 2 Capital        

Eligible reserves     135,088  38,672 

Amounts deducted from capital     (43,170)  (20,273) 

Total Capital Available      994,096  1,002,030 

        

* Only distributable retained earnings (note 12) of the Company are included in the determination 
of Total Capital Available. 

 
(d) Insurance risk 

 
Insurance risk is the risk of loss due to actual experience emerging differently than assumed 
when a product was designed and priced with respect to mortality and morbidity claims, 
policyholders’ behaviour and expenses.  
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(d) Insurance risk (continued) 
 

The Company has implemented product design and pricing policies and underwriting and claims 
management policies to manage its insurance risks.  
 
The Company also limits its exposure to loss within the insurance operations through participation 
in reinsurance arrangements. For insurance contracts issued in 2019, the Company generally 
retains a maximum of RM300,000 for mortality risk per life, RM300,000 for accelerated critical 
illness risk per life and RM200,000 for additional critical illness per life, with the excess being 
reinsured through surplus treaties, coinsurance treaties and facultative reinsurance treaties. The 
Company is neither dependent on a single reinsurer at this moment nor are the operations of the 
Company substantially dependent upon any reinsurance contract. 

 
The table below sets out the concentration of the actuarial liabilities as at the date of the 
statement of financial position, gross and net of reinsurance, by class of business. 
 

 Gross  Net 

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

        

Whole life  997,756  922,974  997,756  922,974 

Endowment 806,350  691,737  806,350  691,737 

Term 67,859  61,264  73,271  58,974 

Annuity 238,518  206,181  238,518  206,181 

Others 618,063  612,732  618,063  612,732 

 2,728,546  2,494,888  2,733,958  2,492,598 

        
Sensitivities 
 
The analysis below is performed on plausible movements in key assumptions (with all other 
assumptions held constant) with resulting impact on gross and net actuarial liabilities, profit before 
tax and equity. The correlation of assumptions may have a significant effect in determining the 
ultimate actuarial liabilities, but to demonstrate the impact due to changes in assumptions, 
assumptions are changed on an individual basis. It should be noted that movements in these 
assumptions are non-linear. Sensitivity information will also vary according to the current level of 
economic assumptions. 
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(d) Insurance risk (continued) 
 
 
 
 

 
Change in 

assumptions 
% 

Impact on 
gross 

actuarial 
liabilities 

RM’000 

Impact on 
net 

actuarial  
liabilities 

RM’000 

Impact on 
profit 

before 
tax 

RM’000 

 
Impact 

on 
equity* 
RM’000 

  Increase/(decrease) 
   
31 December 2019     
Mortality/morbidity +10 18,505 15,041 (15,041) (11,431) 
Discount rate -1 36,739 36,991 (36,991) (28,113) 
Expenses +10 7,763 7,763 (7,763) (5,900) 
Lapse and surrender rates +10 2,122 1,961 (1,961) (1,491) 
      
31 December 2018     
Mortality/morbidity +10 17,283  13,969  (13,969) (10,617) 
Discount rate -1 30,033  29,893  (29,893) (22,719) 
Expenses +10 6,523  6,523  (6,523) (4,958) 
Lapse and surrender rates +10 2,866  2,855  (2,855) (2,170) 
      
* Impact on equity is stated after considering tax effects 

 
In the sensitivity analysis above, the impact from the changes in assumptions in the table above 
to the Company’s profit before tax and equity arise from Non-participating life fund policies. There 
is no material impact to the Participating life funds within the range of changes in assumptions as 
the participating nature of the Participating life funds give the Company the flexibility to adjust the 
policyholders’ bonus or dividends. 
 
The method used and significant assumptions made to derive the sensitivity information did not 
change from the previous financial year. 

 
(e) Credit risk  

 
Credit risk is the risk of loss due to inability or unwillingness of an issuer or borrower to service its 
debt obligations. The risk arising from lending and investing activities is monitored regularly with 
respect to single customer limit, exposure to sector type, credit rating and remaining term to 
maturity, according to the guidelines and limits approved by the Board and within the guidelines 
issued by BNM. 
 
As at the date of the statement of financial position, the credit exposure of the Company is within 
the guidelines and limits approved by the Board. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the 
carrying amount as stated in the financial statements. 
 
The Company has minimal exposure to credit risk on unrated Malaysian Government Securities, 
Government Investment Issues and unquoted corporate debt securities as these are either issued 
or guaranteed by the Federal Government of Malaysia. All the remaining unquoted corporate debt 
securities are issued by companies with minimum rating of BBB.  
 
Policy loans are secured against the surrender value of the policies and carry substantially no 
credit risk. Mortgage loans and staff loans are secured against the properties charged to the 
Company. 
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(e) Credit risk (continued) 
 
Credit risk in respect of customer balances incurred on non-payment of premiums will only persist 
during the grace period specified in the policy documents on the expiry of which either the 
premium is paid or the policy will be terminated. 
 
Fixed and call deposits are placed with financial institutions approved by the Investment 
Committee of the Company and with ratings of ‘A’ or better.  
 
Reinsurance arrangements are maintained with reinsurers with international ratings of ‘A’ or 
better.  
 
There has been no significant change in the credit risk objectives, policies and processes in the 
current financial year as compared to the previous financial year. 
 
The table below shows the Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components in 
the statement of financial position by classifying financial and insurance assets according to the 
Company’s credit rating of counterparties except for the Investment-linked funds’ assets, as the 
Company does not have any direct exposure to credit risk in those assets as the credit risk is 
borne by the investment-linked policyholders. 
 
The Investment-linked funds are the assets of the investment-linked contracts backing the 
investment-linked policyholders’ account in the insurance contract liabilities. 
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(e) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Neither past-due nor impaired 

 
Not subject 

to credit risk  

Past due 
but not 

impaired  

Past due 
and 

impaired  

 Investment   
-linked 
funds  Total 

Rating (BBB 
to AAA)  Not rated 

31 December 2019 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
              
AFS financial assets              
Equity securities -  -  917,292  -  -  -  917,292 
Real estate investment trusts -  -  15,398  -  -  -  15,398 
Unit trust funds -  -  555,291  -  -  -  555,291 
Malaysian Government Securities -  328,298  -  -  -  -  328,298 
Government Investment Issues -  203,367  -  -  -  -  203,367 
Corporate debt securities 1,001,487  306,892  -  -  -  -  1,308,379 
Accrued interest  11,342  8,486  -  -  -  -  19,828 
Financial assets at FVTPL 
- designated upon initial recognition              
Equity securities -  -  -  -  -  587,603  587,603 
Real estate investment trusts -  -  -  -  -  8,314  8,314 
Unit trust funds -  -  -  -  -  167,215  167,215 
Malaysian Government Securities -  48,314  -  -  -  -  48,314 
Government Investment Issues -  25,298  -  -  -  -  25,298 
Corporate debt securities  241,267  83,539  -  -  -  90,291  415,097 
Mutual funds -  -  -  -  -  438,118  438,118 
Forward foreign exchange contract -  -  -  -  -  3,802  3,802 
Accrued interest  2,748  1,663  -  -  -  1,137  5,548 
Loans and receivables              
Loans receivable -  150,183  -  51  489  -  150,723 
Fixed and call deposits 2,325  -  -  -  -  49,083  51,408 
Other receivables -  13,456  -  -  290  7,117  20,863 
Reinsurance assets 1,753  1,650  -  -  -  -  3,403 
Insurance receivables -  25,794  -  -  907  -  26,701 
Cash and cash equivalents 56,505  -  -  -  -  5,422  61,927 
Allowance for impairment losses -  -  -  -  (1,480)  -  (1,480) 

Total financial and insurance assets 1,317,427  1,196,940  1,487,981  51  206  1,358,102  5,360,707 
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(e) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Neither past-due nor impaired 

 
Not subject 

to credit risk  

Past due 
but not 

impaired  

Past due 
and 

impaired  

 Investment   
-linked 
funds  Total 

Rating (BBB 
to AAA)  Not rated 

31 December 2018 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
              
AFS financial assets              
Equity securities -  -  843,992  -  -  -  843,992 
Real estate investment trusts -  -  8,431  -  -  -  8,431 
Unit trust funds -  -  190,348  -  -  -  190,348 
Malaysian Government Securities -  309,926  -  -  -  -  309,926 
Government Investment Issues -  133,622  -  -  -  -  133,622 
Corporate debt securities 1,205,626  346,013  -  -  -  -  1,551,639 
Accrued interest  14,075  8,283  -  -  -  -  22,358 
Financial assets at FVTPL 
- designated upon initial recognition              
Equity securities -  -  -  -  -  498,082  498,082 
Real estate investment trusts -  -  -  -  -  5,786  5,786 
Unit trust funds -  -  -  -  -  124,739  124,739 
Malaysian Government Securities -  34,398  -  -  -  -  34,398 
Government Investment Issues -  23,388  -  -  -  -  23,388 
Corporate debt securities  210,571  75,373  -  -  -  77,950  363,894 
Mutual funds -  -  -  -  -  496,354  496,354 
Forward foreign exchange contract -  -  -  -  -  3,958  3,958 
Accrued interest  2,520  1,563  -  -  -  884  4,967 
Loans and receivables              
Loans receivable -  154,462  -  59  222  -  154,743 
Fixed and call deposits 2,273  -  -  -  -  82,148  84,421 
Other receivables -  17,614  -  -  290  12,205  30,109 
Reinsurance assets 4,159  5,349  -  -  -  -  9,508 
Insurance receivables -  24,344  -  -  1,063  -  25,407 
Cash and cash equivalents 43,982  -  -  -  -  10,255  54,237 
Allowance for impairment losses -  -  -  -  (1,488)  -  (1,488) 

Total financial and insurance assets 1,483,206  1,134,335  1,042,771  59  87  1,312,361  4,972,819 
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED 
 

(e) Credit risk (continued) 
 

Age analysis of financial assets past-due but not impaired 
 

 < 30 days  
31 to 60 

days   
61 to 90 

days  
91 to 180 

days  
Over 180 

days  Total 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

            

31 December 2019            

Loans receivable -  -  9  -  42  51 

 -  -  9  -  42  51 

            

31 December 2018            

Loans receivable -  -  -  -  59  59 

 -  -  -  -  59  59 
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(e) Credit risk (continued) 
 

Impaired financial assets 
 
For assets to be classified as “past due and impaired”, contractual payments must be in arrears 
for more than three months based on objective evidence that an impairment loss has been 
incurred. The Company records impairment allowance for loans receivables, insurance 
receivables and other receivables in a separate allowance for impairment loss account. A 
reconciliation of the allowance for impairment losses for loans receivable, insurance receivables 
and other receivables is as follows: 

 

 Loans  Insurance  Other   

  receivable  receivables  receivables  Total 

  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

         

At 1 January 2019  135  1,063  290  1,488 

Allowance for impairment 

losses during the 

financial year 

 

148  4 

 

-  152 

Write-off  -  (160)  -  (160) 

At 31 December 2019  283  907  290  1,480 

         

At 1 January 2018  366  1,065  290  1,721 

Reversal of impairment  

losses during the 

financial year 

 

(231)  (2) 

 

-  (233) 

At 31 December 2018  135  1,063  290  1,488 

         
Allowance for impairment loss arose from individual impairment assessments during the financial 
year. There was no allowance of impairment loss arising from collective assessments. 

 
(f) Market risk 

 
Market risk is the risk of changes in fair value of financial instruments from fluctuation in foreign 
exchange rates (currency risk), market interest rates (interest rate risk) and market prices (price 
risk), whether such change in price is caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or its 
issuer or factors affecting all instrument traded in the market. 
 
Market risk is managed through the segmentation of product liabilities with similar characteristics 
and the establishment of investment policies and goals for each segment. The Company’s 
investment policies and goals reflect the asset mix, asset quality, sector mix, currency mix, 
interest rate risk exposure and liquidity targets.  
 
There has been no significant change in the market risk objectives, policies and processes in the 
current financial year as compared to the previous financial year. 
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(f) Market risk (continued) 
 

(i) Currency risk 
 

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. 
 
The Company manages the risk through matching the currency of the assets with the 
currency of the liabilities which these assets support. The Company does not have direct 
exposure to foreign currency risk except for certain foreign currency denominated 
investments in participating life fund and investment linked-business, of which the foreign 
currency risk is borne by the policyholders. 

 
Exposure to foreign currency risk 
 
The Company’s exposure to the foreign currency (a currency which is other than the 
functional currency of the Company), based on carrying amounts as at the end of the 
reporting period was: 
 

   Denominated in USD 

    2019  2018 

    RM’000  RM’000 

       

Amount due from related parties    47  475 

Cash and cash equivalents    8,128  6,591 

    8,175  7,066 

 
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in 
currency, with all other variables held constant: 
 

 Impact on profit before tax/equity 

   Increase/(decrease) 

   2019  2018 

   RM’000  RM’000 
Changes in foreign currency rates     

USD + 5%  409  353 

USD -  5%     (409)  (353) 

 
(ii) Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rate. Investment activities and 
insurance business are inherently exposed to interest rate risk. This risk arises due to 
differences in pricing or tenure of investments and liabilities. Interest rate risk is managed 
by the insurance contract liability, by limiting the interest rate guarantees that are 
embedded in the insurance plans that are marketed. The interest rate risk is also managed 
through setting the appropriate asset benchmark reflecting the liability profile and the 
availability of suitable instruments in the investment market. The participating nature of the 
Participating life fund gives the Company the flexibility to adjust the policyholders’ bonus or 
dividends in the event of persistently high or low interest rates.   
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(f) Market risk (continued) 
 

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued) 
 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest 
rates, with all other variables held constant showing the impact on the Company’s profit 
before tax and equity. The correlation of variables will have a significant effect in 
determining the ultimate impact on interest rate risk, but to demonstrate the impact due to 
changes in variables, variables had to be changed on an individual basis. It should be noted 
that movements in these variables are non-linear. 

 

 Impact on profit before tax  Impact on equity* 

 Decrease  (Decrease)/increase 

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

Change in RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

  variable:        

Interest rate        
+ 100 basis point (576)  (343)  (455)  (16,638) 

        

- 100 basis point (3,931)  (1,433)  (3,105)  17,334 

        
* Impact on equity is stated after considering tax effects 
 

The above impact to the Company’s equity arose from the investments in fixed income 
securities which are classified as AFS and FVTPL financial assets and the actuarial 
liabilities of the Non-participating funds; the impact to the Company’s profit before tax arose 
from fixed income securities which are classified as FVTPL financial assets and the 
actuarial liabilities of the Non-participating funds. Any adverse impact on the Participating 
life fund results arising from changes in interest rate risk will be negated by an equivalent 
decrease in unallocated surplus in the insurance contract liabilities and vice versa. Hence, 
the impact arising from changes in interest rate risk to fixed income securities and actuarial 
liabilities of the Participating life fund of the Company is retained in the insurance contract 
liabilities. 
 

(iii) Price risk  
 

The Company’s price risk exposure relates to financial assets and liabilities, whose values 
will fluctuate as a result of change in market prices. Such investment securities are subject 
to price risk due to changes in market values of instruments arising either from factors 
specific to the individual instruments or their issuers or factors affecting all instruments 
traded in the market. 
 

The Company has acknowledged the inherent risk of investing in equities. The Board has 
set internal limits for maximum equity exposure, industry type exposure and individual stock 
exposure, which are consistent with BNM’s guidelines, and has also imposed daily trading 
limits. In addition, the Investment Committee at its monthly meeting discusses the economic 
and market outlook, reviews transactions and deliberates on further equity allocation. The 
participating nature of the Participating life fund gives the Company the flexibility to adjust 
the policyholders’ bonus or dividends in the event of persistently high or low equity returns. 
 

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the fair 
values of the equity investments, with all other variables held constant showing the impact 
on the Company’s profit before tax and equity. The correlation of variables will have a 
significant effect in determining the ultimate impact on price risk, but to demonstrate the 
impact due to changes in variables, variables had to be changed on an individual basis. It 
should be noted that movements in these variables are non-linear.  
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(f) Market risk (continued) 
 

(iii) Price risk (continued) 
 

 Impact on profit before tax  Impact on equity* 

 Increase/(decrease)  Increase/(decrease) 

 2019  2018  2019  2018 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 

Change in variable:        

Market price        

+15% -  -  79,632  31,843 

        

- 15% -  -  (79,632)  (31,843) 

        
* Impact on equity is stated after considering tax effects 
 
The above impact to the Company’s equity arose from the Non-participating life fund and 
Shareholder’s fund investments in equity securities, unit trust funds and real estate 
investment trusts which are classified as AFS financial assets. Any adverse impact on the 
Participating life fund results arising from changes in price risk will be negated by an 
equivalent decrease in unallocated surplus in the insurance contract liabilities and vice 
versa. Hence, the impact arising from changes in price risk to equity securities, unit trust 
funds and real estate investment trusts of the Participating life fund is retained in the 
insurance contract liabilities. 

 
(g) Liquidity risk  

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in raising funds to meet cash 
commitments associated with financial instruments. This risk is managed via a three-year 
planning process to ascertain operational cash flow requirements and maintaining a reasonable 
level of liquid assets to meet unexpected cash flow. In addition, the Company has large holdings 
of government bonds that can be liquidated at short notice to meet unexpected liquidity needs. 
 
It is unusual for a Company transacting insurance business to predict the requirements of funding 
with absolute certainty as the theory of probability is applied on insurance contracts to ascertain 
the likely provision and the time period when such liabilities will require settlement. The amount 
and maturities in respect of insurance contract liabilities are thus based on management’s 
estimate based on statistical techniques and past experiences. 
 
There has been no significant change in the liquidity risk objectives, policies and processes in the 
current financial year as compared to the previous financial year. 
 
The table below analyses the Company’s financial and insurance assets and financial and 
insurance liabilities into their relevant maturity groups based on the remaining undiscounted 
contractual obligations.  
 
All liabilities are presented on a contractual cash flow basis except for the insurance contract 
liabilities and amount payable under distribution agreement which are presented based on their 
expected cash flows. 
 
The Investment-linked funds are the assets of the investment-linked contracts backing the 
investment-linked policyholders’ account in the insurance contract liabilities. Investment-linked 
fund liabilities are repayable or transferable upon notice by policyholders and are disclosed 
separately under the “Investment-linked funds” column. 
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(g) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

 

 
Carrying 

value  

 
Up to a 

year  
 

1-3 years  

 
3-5 

years  

 
Over 5 
years  

No 
maturity 

date  
Investment-

linked funds  

 
 

Total 
31 December 2019 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
                
Equity securities 1,504,895  -  -  -  -  917,292  587,603  1,504,895 
Real estate investment trusts 23,712  -  -  -  -  15,398  8,314  23,712 
Malaysian Government Securities 376,612  15,737  31,473  31,473  591,456  -  -  670,139 
Government Investment Issues 228,665  9,663  19,325  19,325  366,536  -  -  414,849 
Corporate debt securities 1,723,476  130,171  388,365  346,348  1,279,367  -  90,291  2,234,542 
Unit trust funds 722,506  -  -  -  -  555,291  167,215  722,506 
Mutual funds 438,118  -  -  -  -  -  438,118  438,118 
Forward foreign exchange contract 3,802  -  -  -  -  -  3,802  3,802 
Accrued interest                
  - AFS financial assets 19,828  19,828  -  -  -  -  -  19,828 
  - FVTPL financial assets 5,548  4,411  -  -  -  -  1,137  5,548 
Loans receivable 150,440  426  571  265  499  148,679  -  150,440 
Fixed and call deposits 51,408  2,325  -  -  -  -  49,083  51,408 
Other receivables 20,573  13,456  -  -  -  -  7,117  20,573 
Reinsurance assets 3,403  3,403  -  -  -  -  -  3,403 
Insurance receivables 25,794  25,794  -  -  -  -  -  25,794 
Cash and cash equivalents 61,927  56,505  -  -  -  -  5,422  61,927 

Total financial and insurance assets 5,360,707  281,719  439,734  397,411  2,237,858  1,636,660  1,358,102  6,351,484 

                
Insurance contract liabilities 4,125,326  125,962  268,040  405,824  5,069,193  -  1,345,740  7,214,759 
Insurance claims liabilities 53,464  53,464  -  -  -  -  -  53,464 
Reinsurance liabilities 5,412  5,412  -  -  -  -  -  5,412 
Insurance payables 601,023  601,023  -  -  -  -  -  601,023 
Other payables 127,541  99,576  16,126  8,183  157  -  8,653  132,695 

Total financial and insurance liabilities 4,912,766  885,437  284,166  414,007  5,069,350  -  1,354,393  8,007,353 
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34. RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(g) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

 

 
Carrying 

value  

 
Up to a 

year  
 

1-3 years  

 
3-5 

years  

 
Over 5 
years  

No 
maturity 

date  
Investment-

linked funds  

 
 

Total 
31 December 2018 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
                

Equity securities 1,342,074  -  -  -  -  843,992  498,082  1,342,074 
Real estate investment trusts 14,217  -  -  -  -  8,431  5,786  14,217 
Malaysian Government Securities 344,324  15,733  31,360  31,360  564,913  -  -  643,366 
Government Investment Issues 157,010  7,406  14,811  14,811  254,065  -  -  291,093 
Corporate debt securities 1,915,533  182,323  373,189  421,566  1,561,397  -  77,950  2,616,425 
Unit trust funds 315,087  -  -  -  -  190,348  124,739  315,087 
Mutual funds 496,354  -  -  -  -  -  496,354  496,354 
Forward foreign exchange contract 3,958  -  -  -  -  -  3,958  3,958 
Accrued interest                
  - AFS financial assets 22,358  22,358  -  -  -  -  -  22,358 
  - FVTPL financial assets 4,967  4,083  -  -  -  -  884  4,967 
Loans receivable 154,608  572  655  366  695  152,320  -  154,608 
Fixed and call deposits 84,421  2,273  -  -  -  -  82,148  84,421 
Other receivables 29,819  17,224  -  -  390  -  12,205  29,819 
Reinsurance assets 9,508  9,508  -  -  -  -  -  9,508 
Insurance receivables 24,344  24,344  -  -  -  -  -  24,344 
Cash and cash equivalents 54,237  43,982  -  -  -  -  10,255  54,237 

Total financial and insurance assets 4,972,819  329,806  420,015  468,103  2,381,460  1,195,091  1,312,361  6,106,836 

                

Insurance contract liabilities 3,864,705  135,983  230,701  397,967  5,077,327  -  1,301,629  7,143,607 
Insurance claims liabilities 55,014  55,014  -  -  -  -  -  55,014 
Forward foreign exchange contract 116  -  -  -  -  -  116  116 
Insurance payables 557,957  557,957  -  -  -  -  -  557,957 
Other payables 103,699  89,844  -  -  -  -  13,855  103,699 

Total financial and insurance liabilities 4,581,491  838,798  230,701  397,967  5,077,327  -  1,315,600  7,860,393 
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34.    RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 

(h) Operational risk  
 

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, risk 
management policies and procedures, systems’ failures, human performance failures or from 
external events. The Company seeks to minimise exposure by ensuring appropriate internal 
controls and systems, together with trained and competent people throughout the Company. 
The Company uses an established programme of comprehensive risk self-assessments in 
conjunction with independent internal audits to monitor and assess inherent operational risks 
and the effectiveness of internal controls. 
 

35.    CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS 
 
     2019  2018 
     RM’000  RM’000 

Other commitments        
        

Exclusive bancassurance agreement        
  - Authorised but not provided for    (i) 10,500  13,500 

        
Distribution agreement        
  - Authorised but not provided for    (ii) 8,293  - 

        
(i) The Company is committed to pay annual fees under the terms of the exclusive bancassurance 

agreement. The annual fees will be expensed off to the profit or loss in the year of settlement.  
 

(ii) The Company is committed to pay annual consultancy fee under the terms of the Distribution 
Agreement. The annual consultancy fee will be amortised to profit or loss over 20 years. 
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36. INSURANCE FUNDS 
 

The Company’s activities are managed by funds and segregated into Life fund, Investment-linked funds and 
Shareholder’s fund in accordance with the Financial Services Act 2013.  
 
The Company’s statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss have been further analysed by 
funds as follows: 

 
Statement of Financial Position by Funds  

 
  

 

Insurance funds     
 
 
31 December 2019 

Shareholder’s 
fund Life fund 

Investment- 
linked 
funds Elimination Total 

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
Assets      
      
Property and equipment - 16,642 - - 16,642 
Investment properties - 51,290 - - 51,290 
Intangible assets 38,668 4,871 - - 43,539 
Loans and receivables 98,676 165,148 56,200 (89,867) 230,157 
Available-for-sale  
  financial assets 440,613 2,907,240 - - 3,347,853 
Financial assets at fair value   
  through profit or loss  - 402,829 1,296,480 - 1,699,309 
Reinsurance assets - 3,403 - - 3,403 
Insurance receivables - 25,794 - - 25,794 
Right-of-use assets 1,859 - - - 1,859 
Current tax assets 9,950 (1,387) (337) - 8,226 
Cash and cash equivalents 15,225 41,280 5,422 - 61,927 
Total assets 604,991 3,617,110 1,357,765 (89,867) 5,489,999 

      
Equity, Policyholders’ 
  Funds and Liabilities 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
      
Share capital 200,000 - - - 200,000 
Retained earnings 327,856 - - - 327,856 
Fair value reserve 12,763 - - - 12,763 
Total equity 540,619 - - - 540,619 
      
Insurance contract liabilities - 2,779,586 1,345,740 - 4,125,326 
Insurance claims liabilities - 53,464 - - 53,464 
Deferred tax liabilities 22,089 9,154 3,372 - 34,615 
Reinsurance liabilities - 5,412 - - 5,412 
Insurance payables - 601,023 - - 601,023 
Lease liabilities 1,999 - - - 1,999 
Other payables 40,284 168,471 8,653 (89,867) 127,541 
Total equity, 
  policyholders'  
  funds and liabilities 604,991 3,617,110 1,357,765 (89,867) 5,489,999 
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36. INSURANCE FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 

Statement of Financial Position by Funds (continued) 
 

  
 

Insurance funds     
 
 
31 December 2018 

Shareholder’s 
fund Life fund 

Investment- 
linked 
funds Elimination Total 

 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
Assets      
      
Property and equipment - 17,113 - - 17,113 
Investment properties - 51,105 - - 51,105 
Intangible assets 15,197 4,626 - - 19,823 
Loans and receivables 127,783 171,791 94,353 (121,907) 272,020 
Available-for-sale  
  financial assets 346,506 2,713,810 - - 3,060,316 
Financial assets at fair value   
  through profit or loss  - 347,813 1,207,753 - 1,555,566 
Reinsurance assets - 9,508 - - 9,508 
Insurance receivables - 24,344 - - 24,344 
Current tax assets 2,057 3,323 (122) - 5,258 
Cash and cash equivalents 6,993 36,989 10,255 - 54,237 

Total assets 498,536 3,380,422 1,312,239 (121,907) 5,069,290 

      
Equity, Policyholders’ 
  Funds and Liabilities 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
      
Share capital 150,000 - - - 150,000 
Retained earnings 314,737 - - - 314,737 
Fair value reserve 6,183 - - - 6,183 
Total equity 470,920 - - - 470,920 
      
Insurance contract liabilities - 2,563,076 1,301,629 - 3,864,705 
Insurance claims liabilities - 55,014 - - 55,014 
Financial liabilities at fair    
  value through profit or loss - - 116 - 116 
Deferred tax liabilities 21,718 (1,478) (3,361) - 16,879 
Insurance payables - 557,957 - - 557,957 
Other payables 5,898 205,853 13,855 (121,907) 103,699 
Total equity, 
  policyholders'  
  funds and liabilities 498,536 3,380,422 1,312,239 (121,907) 5,069,290 
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36. INSURANCE FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 

Statement of Profit or Loss by Funds 
 
   Insurance funds     

2019 
Shareholder’s 

fund  Life fund 

Investment- 
linked 
funds Elimination  Total 

 RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 
        
Premium income        
  Gross premiums -  600,432 294,331 (1,235)  893,528 
  Premiums ceded 
    to reinsurers -  (69,173) - -  (69,173) 

Net premiums -  531,259 294,331 (1,235)  824,355 
Investment income 14,985  141,978 34,693 -  191,656 
Net realised gains 19,329  23,262 - -  42,591 
Net fair value (losses)/  
   gains (802)  2,919 78,575 -  80,692 
Fee income -  19,246 - (15,457)  3,789 
Other operating income -  388 2,558 -  2,946 
Total revenue 33,512  719,052 410,157 (16,692)  1,146,029 

        
Gross benefits and  
  claims paid and payable -  (400,095) (335,221) -  (735,316) 
Claims ceded to  
  reinsurers -  23,766 - -  23,766 
Gross change in  
  contract liabilities -  (126,675) (44,111) -  (170,786) 
Change in insurance 

contract liabilities 
ceded to reinsurers -  (7,702) - -  (7,702) 

Net claims -  (510,706) (379,332) -  (890,038) 

        
Fee and commission 
  expenses -  (49,739) - -  (49,739) 
Investment expenses (810)  (9,543) - -  (10,353) 
Management expenses (14,939)  (125,099) (20,041) 16,703  (143,376) 
Other operating expenses (8,463)  (10,947) (10,784) (11)  (30,205) 
Other expenses (24,212)  (195,328) (30,825) 16,692  (233,673) 

        
Profit from operations 9,300  13,018 - -  22,318 
Transfer from/(to)  
  revenue account 13,018  (13,018) - -  - 
Profit before taxation 22,318  - - -  22,318 
Taxation (9,188)  - - -  (9,188) 
Net profit for the      
   financial year 13,130  - - -  13,130 
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36. INSURANCE FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 

Statement of Profit or Loss by Funds (continued) 
 

   Insurance funds     

2018 
Shareholder’s 

fund  Life fund 

Investment- 
linked 
funds Elimination  Total 

 RM’000  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000  RM’000 
        
Premium income        
  Gross premiums -  576,156 327,630 (1,343)  902,443 
  Premiums ceded 
    to reinsurers -  (47,927) - -  (47,927) 

Net premiums -  528,229 327,630 (1,343)  854,516 
Investment income 16,998  136,331 32,812 -  186,141 
Net realised gains 326  35,979 - -  36,305 
Net fair value losses (2,434)  (50,373) (158,609) -  (211,416) 
Fee income -  19,423 - (15,011)  4,412 
Other operating income -  132 2,249 -  2,381 
Total revenue 14,890  669,721 204,082 (16,354)  872,339 

        
Gross benefits and  
  claims paid and payable -  (373,796) (297,245) -  (671,041) 
Claims ceded to  
  reinsurers -  13,790 - -  13,790 
Gross change in  
  contract liabilities -  (87,098) 92,658 -  5,560 
Change in insurance 

contract liabilities 
ceded to reinsurers -  1,018 - -  1,018 

Net claims -  (446,086) (204,587) -  (650,673) 

        
Fee and commission 
  expenses -  (58,825) - -  (58,825) 
Investment expenses (851)  (8,632) - -  (9,483) 
Management expenses (12,397)  (101,460) (19,205) 16,417  (116,645) 
Other operating  
(expenses)/income (4,714)  (12,702) 19,710 (63)  2,231 

Other expenses (17,962)  (181,619) 505 16,354  (182,722) 

        
(Loss)/profit from  
operations (3,072)  42,016 - -  38,944 

Transfer from/(to)  
  revenue account 42,016  (42,016) - -  - 
Profit before taxation 38,944  - - -  38,944 
Taxation (10,547)  - - -  (10,547) 
Net profit for the      
   financial year 28,397  - - -  28,397 
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36. INSURANCE FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 

Information on cash flows by Funds  
 

    Insurance funds   
 

 

Shareholder’s 
fund Life fund 

Investment-
linked funds Total 

2019  RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 RM’000 
      

Cash flows from:      

Operating activities  (41,768) 9,667 (4,833) (36,934) 

Investing activities  - (4,642) - (4,642) 

Financing activities  50,000 (734) - 49,266 

Net increase/(decrease) in  
  cash and cash equivalents  8,232 4,291 (4,833) 7,690 

At beginning of financial year  6,993 36,989 10,255 54,237 

At end of financial year  15,225 41,280 5,422 61,927 

      

2018      

      

Cash flows from:      
Operating activities  96,705 (34,634) 7,359 69,430 

Investing activities  - (1,021) - (1,021) 

Financing activities  (100,000) - - (100,000) 

Net (decrease)/increase in  
  cash and cash equivalents  (3,295) (35,655) 7,359 (31,591) 

At beginning of financial year  10,288 72,644 2,896 85,828 

At end of financial year  6,993 36,989 10,255 54,237 
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37. EFFECT OF ADOPTION OF MFRS 16 LEASES 
 

The Company has adopted MFRS 16 on 1 January 2019. The Company applied the standard from its 
mandatory adoption date, applying the modified retrospective approach and did not restate comparative 
amounts for the year prior to first adoption. The adjustments arising from the new leasing rules are 
therefore recognised in the opening balances on 1 January 2019. 
 
On adoption of MFRS 16, the Company recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which had 
previously been classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of MFRS 117 Leases. These 
liabilities were measured at the present value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the 
lessee’s incremental financing rate as of 1 January 2019. 
 
Practical expedients applied 
 
In applying MFRS 16 for the first time, the Company has used the following practical expedients as 
permitted by the standard: 
 
- the use of a single source discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics; 
- reliance on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous; 
- the accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 

January 2019 as short-term leases; 
- the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of right-of-use assets at the date of initial 

application; and 
- the use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend or 

terminate the lease. 
 

The following table set out the financial impact arising from the adoption of MFRS 16: 
 

 
Right-of-use 

assets  
Lease 

liabilities  
Retained 
earnings 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
      
Closing balance 31 December 2018  -  -  (314,737) 

      
Effect on adoption of MFRS 16:       
-  Recognition of right-of-use assets 705  -  (705) 
-  Recognition of lease liabilities -  (716)  716 

 705  (716)  11 

      
Opening balance 1 January 2019 705  (716)  (314,726) 
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37. EFFECT OF ADOPTION OF MFRS 16 LEASES (CONTINUED) 
 

The recognised right-of-use assets relate to the following types of assets: 
 
     31.12.2019  1.01.2019 
     RM’000  RM’000 
        
Right-of-use assets         
-  Office rental     1,859  705 

Total right-of-use assets     1,859  705 

 
Impact of adoption of MFRS 16 

 
The lease liability as at 1 January 2019 can be reconciled to the operating lease commitments as of 31 
December 2018, as follows:  

 
  RM’000 

Operating lease commitment at 31 December 2018 as per previous financial  
statements prepared under MFRS 117 

 
1,246 

   
Weighted average incremental borrowing rate as at 1 January 2019  3.53% 
Present value of operating lease commitment (discounted using borrowing rate)  1,245 
Less: short-term leases recognised on a straight-line basis as expense  (529) 
Lease liabilities recognised as at 1 January 2019  716 
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38. ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES UNDER AMENDMENTS TO MFRS 4 INSURANCE CONTRACTS 

 

As discussed in note 2(a)(ii), the Company will be deferring the adoption of MFRS 9 as allowed under Amendments to MFRS 4. In order to 
compare with entities applying MFRS 9, the amendments require deferring entities to disclose additional information including contractual 
cash flows characteristics and credit exposure of the financial assets. The following table presents the Company’s financial assets by their 
contractual cash flows characteristics, which indicate if they are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding 
(“SPPI”): 

 

For the financial year ended 31 

December 2019 

Fair value       
as at 

1 January 2019  
Change in 
fair value*  

Fair value       
as at                 

31 December 
2019 

 Result of the  
cash flows  

characteristics 
test 

  
Classification and 

measurement under 
MFRS 9 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000     
Financial assets          
Equity securities          
  - Quoted in Malaysia 1,225,905  173,253  1,399,158  Non-SPPI  FVTPL 
  - Quoted outside Malaysia 114,225  (10,432)  103,793  Non-SPPI  FVTPL 
  - Unquoted 1,944  -  1,944  Non-SPPI  FVTPL 
Real estate investment trusts 14,217  9,495  23,712  Non-SPPI  FVTPL 
Unit trust funds 315,087  407,419  722,506  Non-SPPI  FVTPL 
Malaysian Government Securities 344,324  32,288  376,612  SPPI  FVOCI 
Government Investment Issues 157,010  71,655  228,665  SPPI  FVOCI 
Corporate debt securities          
  - Unquoted 1,915,533  (192,057)  1,723,476  SPPI  FVOCI 
Mutual funds 496,354  (58,236)  438,118  Non-SPPI  FVTPL 
Forward foreign exchange contract 3,958  (156)  3,802  Non-SPPI  FVTPL 
Accrued interest 27,325  (1,949)  25,376  SPPI  FVOCI 
Loans and receivables 268,848  (46,427)  222,421  SPPI  Amortised cost 
Insurance receivables 24,344  1,450  25,794  SPPI  Amortised cost 
Cash and cash equivalents 54,237  7,690  61,927  SPPI   Amortised cost 

4,963,311  393,993  5,357,304     

* Includes purchases, disposals, maturities and realised/unrealised gains/(losses)  
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38. ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES UNDER AMENDMENTS TO MFRS 4 INSURANCE CONTRACTS (CONTINUED) 
 

For the financial year ended 31 

December 2018 

Fair value       
as at 

1 January 2018  
Change in 
fair value*  

Fair value       
as at                 

31 December 
2018 

 Result of the  
cash flows  

characteristics 
test 

  
Classification and 

measurement under 
MFRS 9 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000     
Financial assets          
Equity securities          
  - Quoted in Malaysia 1,363,456  (137,551)  1,225,905  Non-SPPI  FVTPL 
  - Quoted outside Malaysia 52,353  61,872  114,225  Non-SPPI  FVTPL 
  - Unquoted 1,944  -  1,944  Non-SPPI  FVTPL 
Real estate investment trusts 14,039  178  14,217  Non-SPPI  FVTPL 
Unit trust funds 252,629  62,458  315,087  Non-SPPI  FVTPL 
Malaysian Government Securities 552,509  (208,185)  344,324  SPPI  FVOCI 
Government Investment Issues 208,195  (51,185)  157,010  SPPI  FVOCI 
Corporate debt securities          
  - Unquoted 1,596,869  318,664  1,915,533  SPPI  FVOCI 
Mutual funds 618,047  (121,693)  496,354  Non-SPPI  FVTPL 
Forward foreign exchange contract 4,284  (326)  3,958  Non-SPPI  FVTPL 
Accrued interest 24,911  2,414  27,325  SPPI  FVOCI 
Loans and receivables 307,803  (38,955)  268,848  SPPI  Amortised cost 
Insurance receivables 23,971  373  24,344  SPPI  Amortised cost 
Cash and cash equivalents 85,828  (31,591)  54,237  SPPI   Amortised cost 

5,106,838  (143,527)  4,963,311     

* Includes purchases, disposals, maturities and realised/unrealised gains/(losses)  
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38. ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES UNDER AMENDMENTS TO MFRS 4 INSURANCE CONTRACTS 
(CONTINUED) 

 
The following table shows the fair value of financial assets of the Company by credit quality: 

 

 AAA  AA     A  
Non-rated  Total 

 RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000  RM’000 
As at 31 December 2019      

 
   

Financial assets          
Malaysian Government 
Securities -  -  -  376,612  376,612 

Government Investment 
Issues -  -  -  228,665  228,665 

Corporate debt securities          
  - Unquoted 850,792  472,531  9,721  390,432  1,723,476 
Accrued interest 10,658  4,445  91  10,182  25,376 
Loans and receivables 51,408  -  -  171,013  222,421 
Insurance receivables -  -  -  25,794  25,794 
Cash and cash equivalents 59,736  6  2,144  41  61,927 

 972,594  476,982  11,956  1,202,739  2,664,271 

 
As at 31 December 2018      

 
   

Financial assets      
 

   
Malaysian Government 
Securities -  -  -  344,324  344,324 

Government Investment 
Issues -  -  -  157,010  157,010 

Corporate debt securities          
  - Unquoted 934,487  549,712  9,162  422,172  1,915,533 
Accrued interest 12,069  5,307  90  9,859  27,325 
Loans and receivables 82,571  1,851  -  184,426  268,848 
Insurance receivables -  6,797  -  17,547  24,344 
Cash and cash equivalents 46,100  10  8,084  43  54,237 

 1,075,227  563,677  17,336  1,135,381  2,791,621 

 


